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BONYAN REIT FUND OVERVIEW

The Bonyan REIT Fund (“Fund”) is a Sharia-compliant real estate
investment fund that is established under Real Estate Investment
Funds Regulations and the Real Estate Investment Traded Funds
Instructions of the Capital Market Authority (“CMA”).

The Fund was established in mid-2018 with a size of SAR 1.63 billion
and it is the second largest listed REIT on the Saudi Stock Exchange
(“Tadawul”). The Fund’s real estate portfolio consists of diversified
assets in various sectors and is capable of achieving periodic rental
income. The Fund distributes at least 90% of net profits in cash
dividends to unitholders on a semi-annual basis. At inception, 79.2%
(9 properties) of Fund’s real estate assets were freehold properties
and 20.8% (1 property) of real estate assets were leasehold.

The Fund owns ten real estate assets in four Saudi cities, which are
Riyadh, Abha, Madinah and Jazan. It also owns a residential asset in
Dubai, UAE. The assets are classified amongst three different sectors:
commercial centers, residential and hospitality. During 2019, the Fund
has entered into 750+ lease contracts with international and local
companies across various industries.

Bonyan REIT Fund is distinguished by its geographical and sectoral
diversity, which makes it an attractive REIT. Most of the Fund’s
assets are located in densely populated areas, whereby there is low
competition, and the majority of the assets are amongst the famous
landmarks of their respective city and region. Further, all of the Fund’s
commercial centers are family and entertainment destinations of their
region.

The commercial centers in the Fund’s assets portfolio are the largest
malls in their regions with little competition, which contributes to
attracting the best tenants from both, international and local brands.
In addition, the hotels in the Fund’s assets portfolio are the only hotels
in their regions that give visitors easy access to the malls as they are
directly attached to them. In addition, the presence of the (Marriott)

brand, which is one of the most famous brands associated with the
hospitality sector, makes these hotels attractive to many visitors
of these areas. Residential assets are also distinguished by their
locations, in the heart of commercial capitals Riyadh and Dubai (City
Walk). Following is a summary of material developments that took
place during 2019:

1. The Fund secured two Sharia-compliant facilities with (i) Riyad
Bank amounting to SAR 700 million with a tenor of seven (7) years,
and (i) Arab National Bank amounting to SAR 500 million with
a tenor of five (5) years (extendable for two additional years);

2. The Fund is registered with the General Authority of Zakat and Tax
as a zakat payer and filed its 2018 zakat declaration;

The Bonyan REIT Fund is managed by Saudi Fransi Capital (“Fund
Manager”) a leading financial services provider offering investment
banking, asset management, debt and equity research, institutional
sales trading, and local and global securities brokerage. Saudi Fransi
Capital is the investment arm of Banque Saudi Fransi, where it was
trademarked with a paid up capital of 500 million Saudi Riyals and
is a closed joint stock company in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. It
is licensed by the Capital Market Authority with license 11315-37
to conduct a wide range of investment activities include dealing,
arranging, managing, advising and custody of securities business.

Fund Strategy

The Fund aims to invest in real estate assets inside and outside
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, capable of achieving periodic leasing
income and returns on invested capital in all sectors and geographical
regions. The regions and cities are characterized by positive
investment features, growth in business activities and positive flow
of investments.
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FUND PERFORMANCE

Key Financial Performance as at 31 December 2019

- Total Revenue 9 Total Operating Cost ———  Total Operating Profit
IE3]|  sar 2136 mition @ SAR 102.7 million SAR 110.9 million

i O
o Net Income CCODD Total Dividends Price per unit range
[[90 SAR 88.5 million rrﬂﬁﬁ SAR 119.7 million I" SAR 8.30 — SAR 10.30

O Net Asset Value per Unit A Net Asset Value /?ir(‘;l‘é‘al'zed Dividend
@ SAR 8.8979 ﬁ SAR 1,449.3 million 7.47%

............................................................................................................................................

66% 11% ‘"J‘QH_;‘ 23%
Commercial Centers Hospitality H Residential
Segment Segment Segment
Occupancy Rate 93% 45% 99%
Operating Profit SAR 92.7 million SAR 92.7 million SAR 92.7 million
Number of Leasable Units 850 Total Room Capacity 274 Total Apartments/Villas 178
I N T
Year-End NAV (SAR) 1,449,291,938 1,480,540,231
Year-End 10.1467 9.6686
(FS"‘KR\;a'“e NAV per Unit High 101467 9.6686
Low 9.8120 9.6686
Number of units 162,881,100 162,881,100
Dividend per Unit (SAR) 0.7350 0.2449
Expense Ratio 0.67% 0.52%
Total Return per annum 12.55% -0.87%
Cumulative Total Return 11.68% -0.87%

*Total return is calculated based on fair value NAV and dividend payments for each fiscal year.
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Market Overview

The Saudi economy rebounded in 2018 by recording real GDP growth
of 2.4% and this momentum continued in 2019 as the economy
grew by 0.3%. The growth was driven by higher oil prices along with
several government initiatives, driven by Vision 2030, to strengthen
the economy that are starting to bear fruit. The various initiatives are
targeted at diversifying the economy, building new industries and
sectors, providing employment, empowering women and enabling
private sector growth. Further, since the beginning of 2019, the Saudi
Stock Exchange has witnessed increasing foreign cash flows on
account of inclusion tranches in the emerging markets indices (MSCI
& FTSE).

Helped by increasing commercial activities, reviving consumer
confidence and an enabling environment, the commercial real estate
market witnessed similar growth as well, rental rates and price
performance improved significantly during 2019. Going forward,
there is strong expectation that there will be further growth in the
near term, thanks largely to government policies, upcoming 2020 G20
Summit and other initiatives (such as city-wise Season festivities) that
are supportive of the real estate market.

The UAE registered a similar rebound to Saudi Arabia with real GDP
growth coming in at around 1.6% in 2019. For Dubai, while residential
prices and rents continued to soften in 2019, however, there are
expectations of stronger demand going forward because of the recent
approval of a range of legislations to ease visa regulations, given that

many of the changes are linked to property ownership. Moreover,
World Expo 2020 in Dubai will drive demand in the short-term.

Fund Operations Review

Bonyan REIT Fund generated income from operations amounting to
SAR 110.9 million and net profit of SAR 88.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2019. All of Fund’s assets actively contributed towards
the topline of the Fund, which amounted to SR 213.6 million which
was offset mainly by SAR 102.7 million of operating expenses, SAR
46.5 million of deprecation expenses, zakat charge of SAR 2.4 million
and reversal on investment properties amounting to SAR 26.5 million
on account of improved fair valuations of Fund’s real estate assets.

Fund’s price per unit witnessed a total price return of 17.6% during
2019 (calculated based on traded price) and dividend yield of 7.47%
(i.e. the highest amongst all REITs in KSA). As a result of stable and
organic growth of Fund’s core properties, total dividends amounting to
SAR 119.7 million were distributed amongst unitholders of the Fund
during 2019.

Madinah - Rashid Mega Mall and Marriott Executive Apartments

We remain extremely optimistic on the prospects of the Madinah
property market both in the commercial and hospitality segments. The
main driver behind this will be the Vision 2030 objective of increasing
Umrah visitor capacity from 8 million in 2015 to 30 million by 2030,
which have made the two holy cities of Makkah and Madinah the
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focus of significant investment in the years ahead. This will come in
the form of both real estate developments in the hospitality, retail and
residential segments, and from the significant infrastructure upgrades
due to come online in the coming years. We believe that both our
assets are optimally positioned to benefit from this expected growth
specifically in terms of rental/ADR growth and cap rate compression
— both assets already enjoy high occupancy/utilization rates thanks to
their brand value, unique positioning and quality offering.

The Rashid Mega Mall ended 2019 with near optimal occupancy. We
have decided to embark on capital improvements in order to increase
the gross leasable area specifically in order to cater to increased
demand for space dedicated to entertainment and leisure within the
mall. This should result in decent growth in operating income over the
medium term.

We would like to highlight here that the average independent
valuation for Rashid Mega Mall - Madina as at 31 December 2019
improved by SAR 22.4 million as compared to 31 December 2018.
The main reason for this change in value was due to a combination of
improvement in discount rates and exit yields as well a higher growth
rate assumptions used in valuing this property by the independent
valuators. We believe that this change was driven by the decreased
risks and improved conditions in real estate markets across Saudi
Arabia. Moreover, we expect discount rates and exit yields to improve
further given the strong and unique positioning of the holy city of
Madinah and its strong future prospects.

The Rashid Residences had another strong performance in 2019
(ADR was 17% above our expectations whereas occupancy was
33 pp higher than our forecasts). This resulted in an increase in

the average independent valuation as of 31 December 2019 vs. 31
December 2018 by SAR 10.5 million. We are proud of the fact that this
strong performance has also been recognized by the leading hotel
brand, Marriott, and this property was converted to being operated
under a franchise agreement, and rebranded as Marriott Executive
Apartments.

We believe that the strong performance of the Marriott Executive
Apartments is not only due to the quality of the hotel and its operations
but also reflects its unique proposition of being connected to Rashid
Mega Mall, which is not only the leading mall in the city but one of the
leading entertainment and leisure destinations as well.

Jazan - Rashid Mall, Marriott Courtyard & Residence Inn by
Marriott

The future prospects of Jazan are centered around the Jazan Economic
City which is now being managed by the Royal Commission of Jubail
& Yanbu. The city is slated to be the home of upwards of USD 26
billion of industrial projects, the cornerstone being the Jazan Refinery.
In addition to this, billions of riyals are being poured into infrastructure
projects to develop the city and surrounding areas, which include the
development of an international airport, housing projects. Road and
highway projects.

Despite very promising future of Jazan, in the last few years, the
conflict in Yemen has led to unfavorable business conditions in Jazan
and has increased the perceived geopolitical risks associated with
the city. This has impacted the hospitality sector negatively, which
is reflected in the operating performance of both the Marriott hotels
as well as the average independent valuations associated with them.

The average occupancy rates in the Courtyard and Residence have
been below our expectations by approximately 19% whilst ADRs
have been below our 2019 forecast by approximately 15-20%. As
highlighted above, this has led to a drop in the average independent
valuations by about SAR 5.3 million as compared to 31 December
2018. It is management’s view that over the course of the next 12-
18 months, both hotels should experience a healthy recovery in
occupancy and ADRs due to the acceleration of works in the industrial
projects related to Jazan Economic City. We are also happy to report
that both hotels have transitioned from operating agreements to
franchise agreements, which has helped in significantly reducing
operating expenses, hence improving the operating income from both
hotels.

Despite the political risks that have impacted the hotels, Rashid Mall,
on the other hand, has continued to perform above expectations with
occupancy rates remaining healthy and rental rates stable. In contrast
to the hotels, the average independent valuation as at 31 December
2019 of Rashid Mall has actually increased by SAR 17.5 million as
compared to 31 December 2018. The mall also witnessed successful
and timely opening of Empire Cinemas during December 2019.
The opening ceremony took place under the patronage of Prince
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Mohammed bin Abdulaziz, in the presence of high profile guests and
other dignitaries. During 2020, the cinema will generate significant
operating income for the mall as the lease term contains not only fixed
rent but a revenue sharing component as well.

Abha - Rashid Mall

The Asir region and its capital Abha have always held significant
promise as a tourist destination and stand to benefit significantly from
government’s renewed focus on developing a promoting domestic
tourism. During Q1 2019, as part of Vision 2030, the government has
launched billions of Riyals worth of infrastructure projects including
healthcare, transportation, housing and aviation. The most prominent
of these projects include the Abha airport project, King Faisal Medical
City, the SAR 6 billion Asir-Jazan Road and a SAR 4 billion project for
the expansion of the Jeddah-Jazan Coastal Road.

Rashid Mall in Abha has perhaps being the strongest performing asset
in the portfolio, surpassing even our most optimistic expectations.
We are proud to report that despite being operational for less than
three years, the mall is now almost fully occupied and rental rates
have been higher than expected owing to the mall’s strong brand and
positioning within the city. The average independent valuation as at 31
December 2019 has increased by SAR 63.1 million as compared to 31
December 2018. Further, the mall is expected to open cinemas during
2020, the first in the city, which is expected to generate significant
operating income for the mall as the lease terms not only have a fixed
rent but have a revenue sharing component as well.

Riyadh — Al Rafiah Village, AIMaather Villas & Rashid Strip Mall

Riyadh, being both the official and financial capital of Saudi Arabia, is
perhaps the most important symbol of the massive transformation that
Saudi Arabia is going through. Several huge projects are underway
that promise to transform the capital over the next decade to become
one of the leading capitals not only in the region but also in the world.
In the near future, the city will witness the launch of Riyadh Metro that
is likely to have a defining impact on the city’s commercial real estate
sector. In addition to this, King Abdullah Financial District is making
rapid progress and is promising to be one of the key landmarks of the
city as it gears up to play host to the G20 summit in 2020.

The real estate market in Riyadh has been soft in the last few years
owing to excess supply in the main real estate sectors and slowing
economic activity. The commercial sector has witnessed a rapid
increase in supply, which has resulted in negative pressure on
rents, especially in the north of Riyadh. The residential sector while
witnessing a decline in prices and transaction volumes has actually
been relatively resilient in terms of rental rates probably owing to a
lack of quality inventory within the sector,

The Rashid Strip Mall, which was newly developed at the inception
of the Fund, is now fully leased. It has suffered from the general
pressure on rents and consequently, the total rental income has come

in significantly below what was expected at the time of acquisition.
However, the total rental income has improved since 2018 and
accordingly, property’s valuation as at 31 December 2019 has
improved by SAR 0.9 million as compared to 31 December 2018.

Al Maather Villas remains 85% occupied and renewals have taken
place at approximately same rates as previously. The average
independent valuation has deteriorated by approximately SAR 0.4
million since 31 December 2018 on account of softening residential
market. However, being located right at the heart of the city, this
property is expected to remain stable over the long term.

Al Rafiah Village remains fully occupied with a very stable single
tenant at the exact same terms as compared to last year. The average
independent valuation has improved by SAR 1.9 million since last year
on account of lower discount rate.

Dubai - Citywalk residential apartments

As highlighted above in the market overview, residential prices
and rents in Dubai continued to soften in 2019, however, there are
expectations of stronger demand going forward because of the recent
approval of a range of legislations to ease visa regulations, given that
many of the changes are linked to property ownership as well as Expo
2020.

All apartments in Citywalk are fully leased and rental income has
compressed in line with prevailing market conditions. The average
independent valuations have decreased by SAR 6.9 million since last
year mainly because of rent compression of residential properties in
the UAE market.
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Concluding Remarks

The operating performance of the portfolio was in line our expectations.
Going forward, with active management of the properties, the Fund
will be able to continue to deliver on its most important objective:
delivering attractive and regular income to its investors. The Fund paid
two dividends in 2019 — April and November. We remain optimistic
on the operating performance of the portfolio in the long term mainly
due to:

1.The expected improvements in economic conditions both across
Saudi Arabia and UAE and more specifically in the specific cities /
regions we are invested in as highlighted above;

2.The realization of significant initiatives under Vision 2030 targeted
towards infrastructure, tourism, employment, financing and
transportation, which are likely to provide a significant boost to the
real estate market; and

3.Specific steps that have been taken by us that we expect to result
in material improvements in performance such as the introduction of
cinemas and expansion of gross leasable area in the malls and the

change from operating agreements to franchise agreements for the
Marriott hotels.

In our assessment, overall risks to economic growth and to the
real estate sector have started receding and activity is expected to
normalize over the next few years.

Subsequent Events

Subsequent to the year-end, outbreak of coronavirus (COVID-19)
was declared a global pandemic by World Health Organization and
accordingly, in line with directives issued by the Government of
Saudi Arabia to safeguard its citizens and residents, and to contain
the spread of the virus, Fund’s malls were temporarily closed in mid-
March 2020. Although, supermarkets and pharmacies within the
malls remained open. The operations of the Fund are committed to be
in full compliance with all existing and future directives of the relevant
authorities of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in all efforts to contain
the spread of the virus with the health and safety of employees,
customers and the public being top priority. In absence of a confirmed
duration of the closure, the Fund Manager cannot presently determine
full financial impact of closure on the Fund.
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Al Rashid Mega Mall - Al Madinah

Al Rashid Mega Mall is located in Al Madinah Al Munawwarah on King
Abdullah Road - the second ring - and it is only 10 minutes away from
the Holy Prophet’s Mosque. The complex consists of four floors (first
ground, ground, first, and second) and it is famous for containing the
dancing fountain in the lake with the ship in the first ground floor.
It also contains many world famous brands in addition to Carrefour
Hypermarket, and entertainment halls (FunCity and Snow Forest), in
addition to many international and local restaurants that cater to all
tastes. It also contains exhibitions: 400 exhibitions including H&M,
Iconic, Paris Gallery, Home Center, Home Box, and Center Point and
entertainment halls. As one of the advantages of the commercial
complex, it contains entertainment halls and various international
brands, more than 30 international and local restaurants, a spacious
dining hall and various cafes dedicated to all visitors. Today, the Fund
is expanding the commercial complex, where a restaurant complex
will be established, and it will contain the best chain of international
restaurants. As a result, the rental yield is expected to increase, which
is in the interest of the unit owners.

Al Rashid Mall — Abha

Al Rashid Mall - Abha is located in the city of Abha on King Fahd Road,
and is 15 minutes away from Abha Airport. The complex consists of two
floors (ground and first). It contains many famous brands in addition
to a hypermarket, an entertainment city and more than 20 diversified
restaurants. Al Rashid Mall - Abha is the largest commercial complex
in the Asir region, as it is considered one of the most important
entertainment destinations for many families in the region, which
contains 300 exhibitions of the best international brands, and there
is also a huge family entertainment hall, which is one of the largest in

11

the region. It is worth noting that the commercial complex was opened
at the end of the year 2017 AD and it is considered as the latest mega
mall, and it has no competitor in the Asir region.

Al Rashid Mall — Jazan

Al Rashid Mall is located in Jazan City on King Fahd Road, next to the
Marriott Hotel and Residence Inn Marriott Apartments, close to Jazan
Airport with an estimated 15 minutes’ drive. The complex consists of
three floors (ground, first, and second). It contains many world famous
fashion brands, perfumes, etc. in addition to the supermarket (Panda),
the entertainment city and more than 30 international and local
restaurants. It also contains more than 250 exhibitions, supermarket
(Panda), comprehensive exhibitions (H&M, R & B, Terranova) and an
entertainment city. The mall is characterized by its direct contact
with Marriott hotels, and this feature is not found in any other mall
in the region. Also, the mall features entertainment halls and various
international brands and more than 20 international and local
restaurants, a spacious dining hall and various cafes dedicated to all
visitors.

Al-Rashed Strip Mall — Riyadh

Al-Rashed Building is located in the north of Riyadh, on Othman Bin
Affan Road, in Al-Narjis neighborhood, opposite to the Institute of
Public Administration housing and near King Fahd Center for Child
Cancer Control. The building consists of seven large exhibitions, and
there is an ATM in the parking lot. It is worth noting that there were no
tenants at the time the Fund was established due to the fact that the
commercial complex is new, but the complex was completely leased
during 2019.
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Courtyard by Marriott - Jazan (four stars)

The Courtyard Marriott is a four-star hotel located in the city center, a
few minutes from the airport and close to the commercial complexes
and Jazan Corniche. Courtyard by Marriott is associated with Al
Rashid Mall building for easy shopping, amusement parks and various
restaurants. It has 129 rooms equipped with the finest furniture and
designed to the highest levels, a health club with an indoor pool, a
fitness center and many services to keep pace with developments.
Also, there are meeting rooms for more than 170 people. The hotel
meets the requirements of businessmen, whether designing rooms
that contain an office, or various meeting rooms, and the city center is
close to all service facilities. The hotel is connected to Al Rashid Mall
building with a private entrance for easy shopping, entertainment and
restaurants.

Marriott Residence Inn - Jazan (four stars)

Marriott Residence Inn is a 4-star aparthotel located in the center of
Jazan City, a few minutes away from King Abdullah Airport and close
to the commercial complexes and Jazan Corniche. It is distinguished
by its association with Al-Rashed Mall building for easy shopping,
amusement parks and various restaurants. It contains 79 suites
equipped with the finest furniture and designed to the highest levels.
They include a health club with an indoor pool, a fitness center and
many services to keep pace with developments.

Marriott Executive Apartments - Madinah (five stars)

Marriott Executive Apartments (former name Al Rashid Residences)
are five-star hotel apartments located in Madinah. The location and
design of the apartments meets the requirements of both, visitors
and pilgrims, and they can live in these apartments for long or short

periods. Marriott Executive Apartments are considered to be one of
the finest and newest apartments in Madinah, and they contain 66
apartments of various sizes and the finest facilities. It is characterized
by its location near the Prophet’s Mosque and Prince Muhammad bin
Abdulaziz Airport, on King Abdullah Road, alongside Al Rashid Mega
Mall, and it is connected to an entrance to the mall that contains
fashion brands, international perfumes and various restaurants.
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City Walk Residential Building — Dubai

It is an integrated building in the heart of the City Walk area, which
has 69 luxury residential units. The City Walk area is a modern
destination that includes a variety of stores, restaurants, and high-
end hotels, in addition to exterior spaces with great designs. City
Walk also includes a range of great entertainment attractions,
in addition to a cinema and events that continue throughout the
year. The City Walk area features European-style pedestrianized
streets.

Al-Rafiah Villas Complex — Riyadh

Al-Rafiah residential complex located in Riyadh is fully rented by
King Fahd Medical City, and it is characterized by its quiet location
away from the noise, surrounded by a number of beautiful palm
plantations. It contains 102 varied one-to-four bedroom villas to
suit all tastes.

The complex also features the interior design of the villas in an
integrated analog, and the diversity of service facilities at the
highest levels such as the entertainment club that includes the
pool, fitness center, restaurant and children’s playgrounds. In
addition, as the complex is located in the center of Riyadh, it is
easily accessible to markets, schools and hospitals.

Al-Maather Villas Complex — Riyadh

It is a residential complex (compound) in Riyadh in the Al-Ma’athar
neighborhood, near King Faisal Specialist Hospital, which consists
of 7 residential villas in addition to some services such as a shared
indoor pool.

15
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As part of effective risk management policy, the Fund Manager has
adopted a four-point framework to ensure risks are appropriately
identified and mitigated. The components of framework are as follows:
Annual review of Risk Register and Control Matrix, Third Party Risk
Management Strategy (“TPRM”), Continuous monitoring and reporting
of any non-compliance with the regulations, and Annual monitoring
of outstanding external audit recommendations. To address each of
these areas, the Fund Manager has adopted policies and/or designated
specific departments/staff at SFC to effectively mitigate those risks.

The risk of not having an investment profitability guarantee in
the Fund

Not ensuring that the Fund will be able to achieve investment returns
or that the returns will be proportional to the Fund’s investments. It
is possible that the value of the units may decrease or the Fund may
lose some or all of its capital. It is not possible to provide a guarantee
that the expected or targeted returns of the Fund will be achieved. To
reduce these risks, real estate assets are evaluated twice a year by
independent valuers, and changes in market conditions are taken into
account and actions are taken to protect the value of real estate and
investment profitability.

Risks of not fulfilling the relevant regulations

The Fund may become ineligible to be a real estate investment Fund
in accordance with Real Estate Investment Funds Regulations and the
Real Estate Investment Traded Funds Instructions as issued by the
CMA. This can have negative effects on the liquidity of trading in the
Fund’s units, which may negatively affect the value of its investments.
It should be noted that there is no guarantee that the Fund will remain
in circulation in the financial market due to the failure to meet the
regulatory requirements. To reduce these risks, the Fund Manager
follows all the rules and regulations with independent supervision by

the Compliance and Compliance Department on all the activities of
the Fund.

The risks of changing interest rates and general economic
conditions

Changes in economic conditions, including interest rates and inflation,
will negatively affect the business and opportunities of the Fund. To
reduce these risks, the value and amount of financing is studied,
which greatly reduces the risk of interest rates. As of the reporting
date, the Fund is not exposed to interest rate risk on account of no
utilization of loan facilities.

The nature of the investment risk

There will be no guarantee that the Fund will be able to achieve returns
on its investments in a timely manner. There may be no possibility
to sell or dispose of its assets, and if it is decided to dispose of it
by selling, there may be no possibility to sell it at a price that the
Fund Manager believes represents the fair value to it or to be sold
within the time frame required by the Fund. To reduce these risks,
none of the assets owned by the Fund will be sold until after the
appropriate procedures are followed to sell them, according to the
market conditions at the time.

Real estate investment risks

The Fund will be affected by the general real estate sector conditions
in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, which in turn are affected by many
factors, including but not limited to, macroeconomic growth, political
stability, change in interest rates, supply and demand, financing
availability, real estate trends, liquidity, the legal and regulatory
environment, and other conditions that may affect the real estate
market prices, which in turn is reflected in the value of the Fund’s
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units. To reduce these risks, the Fund Manager follows economic
news, regulatory trends and laws that would help the Fund Manager
to be proactive in taking the necessary steps to mitigate or reduce the
impact of the event as much as possible.

Risks of a decrease in the value of the property

The value of real estate is subject to fluctuations and changes. The
change in the indicators of the Saudi economy may lead to a decrease
in the market value of the Fund’s investments, which in turn may lead
1o a decrease in the Fund’s returns or the liquidation of the Fund. In
addition, investments in commercial and residential real estate are
exposed to risks that affect the commercial and residential real estate
sector in general, including seasonal changes, real estate buyers
desire and changes in economic conditions. To reduce these risks,
Fund’s assets are evaluated twice a year by independent valuers, and
the Fund Manager may use internal valuations for various purposes,
including knowing market conditions well to avoid loss.

Risks of tenants being unable to meet their lease obligations

The real estate assets are leased by several tenants. Consequently,
the Fund is vulnerable in the event that one of the tenants fails to fulfill
its obligations. If one of the tenants fails to pay the payments due
on a real estate or real estate assets, this may limit the ability of the
Fund Manager to re-rent or rent the property on satisfactory terms.
Accordingly, these risks are minimized by ensuring that there are lease
contracts that preserve the rights of unit owners with the existence
of property management contracts with a company specialized in
property management, which in turn monitors and collects the rental
payments in full.

The risks of not occupying the real estate for long periods

When any of the real estate units becomes vacant for long periods
as a result of the expiry of the lease contract without renewing it, the
inability of the tenant to legally complete the lease, the tenant has
declared bankruptcy, cancellation or non-renewal of the contract or
other reasons, the Fund may suffer from a decrease In returns, and
hence lower periodic dividends for investors. To reduce these risks,
high occupancy rates must be maintained, the Fund’s properties
managed appropriately, the property manager should be followed in
the lease operations and find a replacement.

Risks of operating companies or companies specialized in
property management

The Fund will use a company or companies specialized in operating
and managing real estate assets. Accordingly, any failure, failure,
or defect in the level of service provided by the operator or the
contractors for any reason will have a direct and negative impact on
the performance of the Fund and its financial position, and thus on
the unit price. To reduce these risks, a specialized, experienced and
experienced property manager was selected to enable him to manage
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the assets appropriately, which would benefit the unit owners.
Real estate development risks

In the event that the Fund Manager decides to enter into the real
estate development field, he will face many risks, including delay,
high cost, failure to obtain appropriate rental contracts, or a force
majeure outside the control of the Fund manager, knowing that the
Fund does not intend to enter into any real estate development project
At the present time, however, in case of entering into development
projects in the future, the Fund will develop a clear and logical plan
that includes the necessary studies to avoid risks.

Risks of the possibility of not being able to renew the lease or
re-lease the leased area at the end of the contract period

The Fund depends on its profit on the rental amounts paid by the
tenants and accordingly, the financial position of the Fund and the
results of operations and cash flow as well as the ability of the Fund
to distribute profits may be affected negatively in the event that the
Fund is not able to immediately re-rent properties or renew the lease
contracts. To reduce these risks, the lease contracts concluded with
a prior notice period are included, enabling the Fund to search for an
alternative tenant, and the Fund seeks to renew the lease contracts in
line with the prevailing market conditions.

Risks of concluding long-term leases

The Fund will enter into long leases with some tenants. These
contracts may include increases in the rental value or may not include
it. It is expected that the returns of the Fund will decrease when there
is an increase in operating costs, inflation rates, change in currency
exchange rates, or an increase in real estate prices with the stability
of the rental payments. To reduce these risks, these contracts must
be based on commercial foundations and future aspirations to avoid
losses.
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Fund Governance

In line with CMA rules and regulation, Bonyan REIT Fund Board of Directors supervise and monitor the progress of Fund’s performance in
line with Fund’s terms and conditions. During 2019, the Fund’s Board of Directors held four (4) meetings. During these meetings, Fund’s
performance along with any regulatory and compliance related matters were duly discussed.

Meeting Date

Fund Board Meeting (01) 06/02/2019
Fund Board Meeting (02) 03/04/2019
Fund Board Meeting (03) 09/05/2019
Fund Board Meeting (04) 24/11/2019

1. Approval of 2018 Financial Statements

2. Approval of 2019 Financial Budget

3. Approval on transition to Marriott Franchise Agreement for all three hotels

4. Appointment of external auditors and resulting change in the terms and conditions (T&C)
5. Approval on filing of Fund’s zakat declaration with GAZT and the resulting change in T&C
6. Approval on Capex for Al-Rashid Mall Madinah for general renovations and expansion

7. Approval on Cinema capex for Al-Rashid Mall Abha and Al-Rashid Mega Mall Jazan

8. Approval of 30 June 2019 interim financial statements

9. Approval on Fund’s acquisition strategy

10. Approval on dividend payments (two approvals in total)

11. Extension of marketing plan for Citywalk Dubai residential asset for 12 months (until Q4 2020)
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Services, commissions, fees and expenses charged to the Fund throughout the year
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There were no instances during which the Fund Manager waived or reduced any fees. The Fund Manager did not receive any soft commissions

during the year.
= Management fee
Eﬁﬁ SAR 7,319,871
—————) Custody fee
@ || saasosss
-ﬁﬂ Listing fees
5?/ SAR 300,000
9 Other expenses
@ SAR 84,446

7
i

NP0
7
&I

D

Audit fee
SAR 110,000

Fee of the Fund’s
board members

SAR 105,000

Valuation Fee
SAR 361,000

Expense Ratio
0.67%

E——— Regulatory fee

l-l SAR 7,500

—P Annual fee (Tadawul)
N= |+ 547 606,027

—! Zakat expense
@] SAR 2,440,119
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Fund Manager

JUuls uuijoll sogcmll
Saudi Fransi Capital

Saudi Fransi Capital
8092 King Fahd Road — Riyadh — Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Mailing Address: P.0. Box 23454 — Riyadh 11426 — Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Telephone: +966 11 282 6666 — Fax: +966 11 282 6667

Custodian

UML) .
Albilad Capital

Albilad Investment Company

8162 King Fahd Road — Riyadh — Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Mailing Address: P.0. Box 140 — Riyadh 11411 — Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Telephone: 920003636 — Fax: +966 11 290 6299

Financial Auditor

/) Crowe

Al Azem, Al Sudairy, Al Shaikh & Partners
CPA's & Consultants - Member Crowe Global

Al-Azem, Al-Sudairy, Al-Shaikh & Partners (a member of Crowe Horwath International)
3174 Prince Muhammad Bin Abdulaziz Road — Riyadh — Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Mailing Address: P.0. Box 11 — Riyadh 10504 — Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Telephone: 920004741 — Fax: +966 11 217 5000
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Fund reports are available upon request and free of charge. These reports are also available on the Fund Manager’s website for free at

www.sfc.sa and on the Saudi Stock Exchange website (Tadawul)

Saudi Fransi Capital (Closed Joint Stock Company owned by Banque Saudi Fransi) — Commercial Registration 1010231217 — Authorized and

Regulated by the Capital Market authority (CMA) under license 11153-37
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Al Arerr, Al Sadmry, Al Shakh & Partnars
CREx & Commiuris

slpnher Crosy (robal
/) Crowe e B
Kingeiors of S Arptin

Telephoea 6 11 117 5000
Feacmirmi | +066 71 11 F 63

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT  £rut. sxcromnsa

TO: THE UNIT HOLDERS OF
BONYAN REIT FUND
(Managed by Saudi Fransi Capital Company)

Chpimion

Wa have audited the financial stitements of BONVAN REIT FUND {the “Fund™ mansged by Saudi Fransi
Capiand {the ~Fursd ManagerT), which comprize the smisment of fimancial poaition Az af 11 December 2019, and
the: statesnents of comprehensive income, chaniges in net asseis and cash flows for the year then endad, and
reates to the financhl statements, including & summary of significant accounting poficies.

In our opinion, the accompanying finencial stitements peesont lairdy, in afl material respects, the financial
position of the Fund 25 st 31 December 2019 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accondence with the Insernational Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS5™) that are endarsed
i the Kingdom of Saudi Ambia snd other Standards and pronouncement fsswed by Saudi Organization for
Certificate Public Accountems (SOCPA),

Basis for Opimion

We conducied our audit in nccordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs™) fhat sre endorsed
in the Kingdem of Sawdi Ambia. Our responsibilities under those standards are further dsscribed i the
Auditor's Resporsibilities for the Aodit of the Fmancial Stniements saction of ow repor. We ane
independent of the Fund in secordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 1o our audit of the
finencial statements in Kingdom of Ssudi Ambia, and we have fulfilled cur ather sthical respoansibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtnined is sufficient and
sppropriaie to provide a basis for our opinian.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the financinl statements of the current year. Thess matters were addressed in ihe context of cur sudit of The
financial smtements as 2 whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we da mot provide o separate opinkn
0n fhese matters. We have desermined the following maiters described below 1o be the key nudil mattess o be
commmuanicaied in aur repoet:

AL, Taw & corsulianty

Eaiman B ASudeiny Peliriardl & AL Ehwaihls Bl b Al e
Loerme Mo, 253 Licoss Mo, 658 Licenss Moo 335
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INDEFENDENT AUDTOR'S REPORT(CONTINUED)

BONYAN REIT FUND
(Managed by Saodi Fransi Capitnl Company)

Ky Audit Maiters (Continued)

/) Crowe

Key audit matter

p =

' How owr sudit addressed the key audit matter

Yaluntion of investment properties
Asat 3] Diecember 2019, the camying value of the
Fund®s mvestment properties were SAR 1.64 billion.

The investment properises are stated of cost less
i piimmeed in waloe, §f 8ny {Rafer % Mote 5 for
relevant acoounting policies). The falr value of the

Dr nudin procedures in respect of valustion of
imvistment praperties comprised af the fallowing,

- Assesserd Ihe qualification and expertiss of
third party valuers appoinied by the Fund fios the
valuation of the properties

23

investmend properties s also discloded along with
its mmpact on Mel Awmet Vilue per unit iz dizclosed
n ot 23,

The Fund manager uses two mdependent valusrs
licensed by the Saudi Authority for Aceredited
Valser's (Tageem) io evabuate the value of the
properly &l the reporing date.

We consider it g5 key audit matter since the
walissian requires significant judgement with
respect o the valuaton methed adopied including
e appropriztensss of the vBrious asumplions
and projections used in the valumsion,

Al assumptions and prajections by their natoee
require significam judgement and there i a risk
that ehanges o these may have significant impact
om the valuntion of these investment propertics,
This could result in & material missstement of the
financial saternents either through & leck of
recagnition of hnpairment of the irvestment
properies or Brough inaccurmis d sclosiies of the
finir value of the investmend properties.

= Assessed the recoverable amount based
masesEmont prepared by the third party values
ahd assessed the model, sssumptions and
estimates used in deriving the recoverable values

- Carried cut procedures o stisfy oerselves of the
accuracy of information supplicd to the vahsers by
the Fund manager

Diber information included in the Fond's 2009 Annual Report

The fund manager is responsibée for the other infarmation. Oeher information consists of the information
imc bod ed

m the Fund"s 2019 annual repart, other than the firancisl statemants and our suditor’s repon thereon, The
annual repart {s expected o be made avmilable 10 us afler the date of this suditor’s report.

Our opinkon o the Rnavcial stalements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express
gny frm of assurence: conelasion llerean,

In gonnection with our aadit of the financial statements, our respansibility is o read the other information
Hentified above and, in doing 50, conslder whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
fmanc &l satements of our knowledge obiined in the audit, or atherwise sppears to he materially misstuted.

When we read the other information, if we conclude that there is & material misstatement thersin, we an=
requited o sommumicated the matier to those charged with governance,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT(CONTINUED)
BONYAN REIT FUND
(Managed by Saudi Fransi Capital Company)

Responsibilities of Fund Manager and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements:
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs™) as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
and other Standards and pronouncement issued by Saudi Organization for Certificate Public Accountants
(SOCPA), and for such internal control as Fund Manager determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, Fund Manager is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless Fund Manager either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by Fund Manager.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of Fund Manager’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT(CONTINUED)
BONYAN REIT FUND %\ Crowe
(Managed by Saudi Fransi Caplial Campany)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

We communicate with those changed with governance regarding, nmong other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the sudit &nd significant nudit findings, including any significant deficiencics in irremal
ontrol that we identify during our sudiv

We akso provide those charged with goverancs with a statement that we bave complied with relevant
efhical requirements regarding independence, and o communicife with them all relationships and gther
mitters that may reascrably be thought to besr on our independence, and where applicable, related
safieguards,

From the matmers communicated with these charged with govemance, we determing those matiers that
were of most significance in the sudit of the financial smtements of the current year and are therefore the
key audil maners, We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regalation preclodes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in exiremely rare circumsances, we determine that & mntier
shoull not be communicated in our reporm because the advene consequences of doing o would
reasonably be expected to cutweigh the public interest benefits of such communicaicn.

Pl 0 s Tl 11 2 gl sl | Al Azem, Al Sudairy, Al Shoikh & Pariners
AR | 3 e Lt Certified Public Accountants

Lijinge lip T P,
o

FE R R T T s o1 TR
Al Aagew, &1 Sudairy, ) Shaikh & Fartngrs — —“‘-"%—C_

g SIS Pl Mcourtiant B Abdullih M. Al Azem

Licenae Mo, 315

0% Shaban 1441 H {March 29, 2020)
Riyadh, Kingdom of Saudi Ambia
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BONYAN REIT FUND

(MANAGLED BY SALIDL FEANSI CAPITAL COMPANY?)

STATEMENT OF FINAMCLATL POSTTTOMN

Az gl 31 December 2019

Mafes
ASKETS
Cash sl eagh equivalents i
Invesirseris measared at Gar value through pealil or foss (FVTPL) @
Reral ineame ressivable, met 10
Prepayvment and other asseis 1l
Dhue froun selanad partics 1=
Imtarggsble asscts 1%
Furnature and equgpment 12
[myestrient properties 14
TN AL ASSETS
LIABITITIES
[Crise to peleted pafties 1%
Dieferred rental income
hmmaiyzernent (e ryuble 15
Avroed expenses and cither hobalites 16
Prowision lor Zakal 1=
TOFIAL LEAILITIES
Mel meaeis aidributoble tn unitholders
Ul in taause
het assel value per unad
Mot assel Falr vahes per unil 23

The aceaipanying notes 1 1o 20 (ofm an iegral port ol these fineneinl stieisents

31 Decennter 31 Decrmeher
207 214
{ka redlafed”)
LK LK
M1.551,060 BRI L
1856 -
S1.I36 .57 Gl TR 485G
9.515. 958 L6 G4
H 10z 475
TEILLIE SE01E]
15,193 248 0O 0TS
1AM 986 1654054 362
1,750,540 341 1,775,927 209
186,160,671 193 1ot
TEGS4, 242 14083 262
1803 TR0 4,147 057
Ji 196,200 25,057 905%
2440019 -
M2 T=L 210 A ART ORI
1,440,286 930 1,480 540,23]
La2 681 10 162,881, 10
HROTH S0ERT
LiL L4867 AO0EG
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BONYAN REIT FUND
(MANAGED BY SAUDI FEANS] CAPTTAL COMPANY)
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Forihe vear ended 31 Decernber 20710
Far g perod
S G Swie 200 8
For the yeaw to
emoled FI Devember 26018
A Drcembar 2010 {As meslated®)
Nikes SR s
INCOME —
Income [rom invesilmend properties, nel 17 LIZ 480 543 SLAIR 3G
lher moome E Rl K B3RS0
Realsed nrad wnrealsed giom on imvesiment ot FYTRL TE9 R &
TOTAL TNCOME TIE070,1 85 52050 RG
EXPENSES
Murapement [ees 15 (7318 HTL) {3,950 464
Alksvance [or Expedal Credil Losaes (ECL) Tk (1 B4 B0 (A31,103)
Oiher expemies IH (2 M Hi) (56,371
TOTAL EXPENSES (12169 451) {4 570 SEE)
Tacome lrom operations durig the year / perfod LLLTRE T 47900 REH
[Diepreciation expenss o furnauee ard copipmmnl 13 (#078.561) {1,568 45
Amortizaivan expense on tangibles 12 (HIAL3) {504, 2500
IJ-r]:rEL'uu.im EXpETE ON Imeesiment propecies 14 (4172 441 (A LSSE 2500
Reversal (I mpamment kass) on myvestmenl properbes 14 T A51 509 (R LER T & ey
NET INCOME / {1.05%) BEFORE ZAKAT FOR T RGT (S 440 135)
THE YEAR / PERTOT)
Fakat charge dureng the v ¢ penied 14 (2 A0 -
MNET INCOME !/ {LOSS) AFTER PARAT FOR RE 45T, T4H (85,440 1 38
THE Y EAK ¢ FERIOLD
CFTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME = -
Foreign excharge gaim 6,551 -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE / bass INCOME ;
FOR THE YEAR / FERIOD et ol (55,440, 138)
Earnings { (lnss) per nnid
Weighted merage units in issue 162,581,100 L6238, 100
Barnings / (loss)h pes wait 843] (3345

The accompanidng roles 1 1o 29 faren en integral paet of these finstein] sutements

Bonyan REIT - Annual Report 2019



28

BONY AN REIT FLINIY

(MANAGED BY SAUDI FEANSI CAFITAL COMPANTY)
STATEMENT OF CHANGES TN NET ASSETS

The accompanyng reigs 110 29 form an integral pan of these finssial surements

For the vear ended 31 Decgrnber 2019
31 Decenvher ii Decraber
e Joig
SR S
MNET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TD THE UNITHOLDERS AT
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR / PERIOD 1A% 540,231
CHLAMGES FROM OFERATIONS
Tt incoene ¢ (losa) for the year [ peried BY, 457,748 (EE 440, 138)
Chher comipreleiive e 6559 -
Total comprehensive incoms: BT (A3, 440,138)
CHANGES FROM UNIT TRANMSACTIONS
Suhzeripdion ¢ units - Cash . 6] 524 400
Subreription of units - In kind conribation - TR, M0
Tut ebsange from unit transestions LEZs a0
Chpital Strscturing Eees {32504, 762)
Income distributions during the vear /penod {rote 211 {119,717 608) {30905 BT
{109, 717 608) EX RILARA ]
MET ASSETS ATTHIBUTABLE T THE UNUTHOYLIYERS AT -
THE EXIOE THE YEAR § PPERIKS 144,286,000 1.480,540.231
[NIT TRANSAUTIONS
Tremsacicms m umls durmy the yeur | penodare summimesed a5 Dlbowe:
2 December Al Decenther
JRIE 2iE
Uity Liwie
UNITS AT THE BECGINNING OF TTIE YEAR !/ PERMMD 162 B8] 100 -
Subseripticer af umis - Cash = B8 152 440
Subscription of unils - In kind comtribuliog a DT T8, 6450
ket zlamae in units - Ie2REl, b
UNITS AT THE END OF THE YEAR / PERTOD 162 A8, 00 IGZREL, 100
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BONYAN REIT FUNID
(MANAGED BY SAUDI FRANSI CAPITAL COMPANY)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Faor the vear ended 31 December 2004

Fior the pariod
firiom 03 July 20/ 8
to A1 Dlecambar
3 Decenrber 2E
Nokes 200y (A4 restelod )
5R 1
CASEH FLOAWS FROM OFERATING ACTIVETIHES — —
Mt dncoine for dbe vear | period FH 45T, T4 (85 440128
Audjustiveant foe
Depreciation expervss an fumimre arl eguipmend N} LTS PR
Amartization expense on intngibles 2k 5 05 250
Daprecmbion expenes an myveshmant properties L2ITEAH i T e L |
Impedrment gain on investment propedics (26,451 509 | 168 R0 AHE
Unrealised gain oo invesments measured m FYTPL i 1% -
Allowanes [or Expected Cradit Losass 2 B4d M0
TPaowision for Zakat P EIRBL
-Drx.w]é.-.-s s floses before m:r.l:rhlg EPIITEI i:hm;i'e:l 113745470 47,080, 508
Chamnges in aperating asscrs:
Fental income recemvable EAEE 10 (601,736 485)
Prepavment and other ety {254.30) (9 20] 64
TPuie from related parkes TILIZTATS (1002] 475)
Cleamges i opevallng |Rakisiies:
Dz farred ranin Incoma 1ETLGE TeLOEE 2562
Maragement {ee payable {2 345607} & |47 9RY
Accried experses and other Liakalities 111538142 JANISLO0E
Net cash gencraded from operating activitics 1H9551 266 THI5.340
CASH FLOAWS FRON] 1INV ESTIMNG ACTIVITIES
Parchies of intangible asets 13 {HEIES) (RN
Pargzes: of Furmitene and equipment 13 (10314597 (EELITED
Additven to ifvesiment properies 14 {19540 100 CELOL W)
Parchige af iovestments messured al FVTPL u {325, LT -
Prooseds Treen mvearments measured at FVTPL g 4 99T 173 N
St cash wsed In lvesding sctivities (120 (BT THEO5T,
CASH FLOWS FROM FINAMNCING ACTTVITY
Seokecription of urdts - 651524400
Capital strustarivg fecs paid - (22024 63
Do o skt prarties (502241 [RaR (VR B
Diividersds paid {mer off onclnimed dividsnd) 1GR3} (3950 BT
Met Unsh wsed in financing noimvehies {122 830,370 TR G SR
SET MOVEMENT [N CARH AND CASH 1231w 232108
EQUIVALENTS
ash arel cesh equivalents at the bepinning, of the vear ! JEIZN Y -
prericed
CASH AN CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END 3,453 0 32321068

OF THE YEAR / FERIOD

The secompamyang rotes | o 29 form an integrel par of these finsnon] satements
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BONYAN REIT FUNIL

{MANAGED BY SAUD FRANE] CAPITAL)Y
NOTES TOTHE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year endud 31 Decamber 2119

L THE FUNIY AN ITS ACTIVITIES

Bonyan BEIT Fund (the “REIT" or the “Fund™) i & cleaed-ended Shariah covaplinnt real estatz invesment iraded fund.
The Fund commenced ils operations on 3 July 2018 The linting dube of the Fursd wis on 25 Tuly 2004

The BREIT I= mianaged by Saudi Fransi Capal Company (e *Fussd banager ), & Swadd Clossd Jout Sk ¢ompany with
commersg| registation noc LO10EIL 20T, and an Sodleonized Person Lcensad by the O34 ander license ne. 11153-37
dmted 30 Jawaary 2071,

The REIT is listed on Tecewul and the units of the BEIT are tradesd on Tadewul in sceordance with 1is nules mnd
reyrulations. The subscribed units of the REIT amounts to 3AR 162851 | (00 The BEIT has a temn of 95 vears, which
is exterddable on the diseretiom ol the Fursl Manager folkremg the approval of ChA

The primary Imesment objeciive of the REIT i o provide lis lovestors whh regulor Income by investing In income
gondrating roal extslc asscls in Sawli Arsbia, Unitad Arab Emistes and globally, proveded that the fund®s investmanls
autsade Sawdi Arebin do pob oceed 25% of Fund's assets. In sddibion to this, the Furd may alse oppoctunestically mvest
inreal estate development projects, provided the Fund investsat least 75% of the ssaets of the Fand in income genermiting
real estade nesets and that the Fund does not imvest m white [ands

The terms and conditions of the BEIT were approaced ber Chd® on 94 Bajab [455%H (cormesponding to 21 March 201373
The terms and conditions has been updated an 10k Babi ul Awal 144117 (comespanding 1o 07 November 2019

In sceordanes with the approved ferma and conditeons of the REIT, imvestment propestics amounting te SAR

163881 1000 was transtenned 1o the RETT wpon s com mencemaent dae. The corsderstion of the alsove ramaction was

exzouled by the REIT by way of in-kind subserniption of units to the engmal umil halders aof Rarmyan Real Bstate Fund

;’i:;ng:?} amounting o SAR 577286600 along with o public offenng of wmits for 0 oash consideration of SAK
(i 00

AEkad investment Comparny s the Cosglocdian o the Fumd

1. BECULATORY ALTHORITY

The Famd s poverncd by the Rical Estate Dmvestmend Fund Regulations (REITR} and the Real Estvie Invosimeent Traded
Fumals Inatrusstaoms (REITF) dthe “Regulohions™d publshod by the Caponl backet Authocty (08A) detailing the
requarements for all bpe of real estote fimds snd traded real =ante funds withim the Eingdoas of Seadd Ambin.

i HASIS OF PREFARATION

A1 Sfedewwend ql"-l.'.'-umlpf:l'rllrcr

These Fnuncial slnements hinve been prepored insccomdince with Inlernational Finonciol Beporiang Sandoeds (CLFRRS ),
a erborsed m o the Kingdom of Sewdi Arsfia sl ather sandards and  provsourcemends et are wBesued by Saudi
Omgpnizetron for Certfiod Public Accountanis (“S9OCPA™:

AY Rosdd of ewtadsrdnnert

The lmancwl salements hive been prepimed cn o histoned cost bass, wing the weeruads bass of acocunting except lor
investments thet e mensured af fur value Ii'mmuh: pnnﬁlur loas

A8 Fupctional aoudl presienia fon curmepcy

These financinl staiciments have boon preserded in Sawls Arabian R.i.:.-'uJ (SR, whech 12 aba the funcbieral CLETREGY al
the Fand Al finnrceal sbormnton presended has boen roanded to the nearest Saudi Roval (<SR

The acconpasying et 11029 form an integeal gart of these G satements
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{MANAGED BY SAUDI FRANSI CAPITAL COMPANY)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the yoar ended 31 Docember 2019

4, IBEPALTT OF CHANGE 1N ACCCUINTING POLECTES DUE T ADMMETION OF NEW STANARIYS

Effective | Jarinry 3000 the Fund has sdepied [FRS 16 « Leases Aceovmizng polioes for these aew starclards are
dmclesed inmote 5 of these finnacial swiements

The mpact of the adoplion of thes stuncdard 15 explined below:
RS 16 - “Leaaes™

Befeae Jagmary 01, 2079, the Fuind follow fillowing scoounting for feascs

When etz are tminsferred under a fimarce bease, the present vilue of the bemse paymenis 5 recognised as a recenvible
amd disclesed ns “Not devestosent fo fnemee ease”. The difference between the groas receivable amid the present value
of the receivable is fecapnised s wearrsd finance income. Lesse incodhe i recopnied over the term of the lemes mamg
it et investment method, which reflects a corstart periedic rate of refum

T'he Fund adopied IFES 16 " eases’ the slondird replaces the exasimg gudince on kemes, meluldimg 1AS 17 “Leases™,
IFRAC 4 “Debermining whether an Armngement contioms a Lease™, S1C 15 “Cpersimg Leses - Incentives” amd S1C 27
“Trenisating the Substanee of Tmractons inthe Legal Form of © Tense™

TFES L6 was s in January 2016 and 15 effschve For anmesl periods commeneing on or sfter 1 Jamuary 2019 IFRS 16
stipuilstes that all beases and the sssoviated contrecteal iahts snd obbgations should penerally be recognize inthe Fund's
Finarcanl Positiom, wiless the term i 12 monthe or less or the lease Jor low value sssel, Thus, the classification required
under [AS 17 "Ledaes” into operatmg or finance beses ie eliminmed foo Lessees. For each lease, the hessee Tecognizes o
Tishility for the leme obliaaions incurmed e e, Correspondingly, a nght 1o use the leased aseel 15 capilalizsd,
whioh & genermlly equivalent to the present value of the fulure leoss payments plus dirsatly attribatable oosts and which
ts amortmed over the useful life

Hewever, Lessor accounting 15 substantially encharged from today s accounfing wnder TAS 17 and Lessors will continue
1o clssfy sll lepses wmp the same chassitication principls 45 in TAS 17 and distinguish between two types of leases:
operating and frence lesses The stamdard requires bessees and lesiors to make more extensive disclosures than under
LAS 17,

The Vamd plams b oadopl 1125 16 warg the modafied retrespective spproach, The Fund elesied tooopply the standird io
comiracts thal were previcusy wlenbified ax leee applymg TA5 17 amd [FRIC 4. The Fund therelore dad ned spply the
slaredard b contmcts that wene not previcusly identified ns contaiming a lesse applyirg [TAS 17 ard [FRIC 4,

Thuring the year, the Fund has perfonmed an assessment of [FRS 16 and resalved that inpeet of difference as compased

i leases acoounted for applying [AS 17 & IFRIC 4 i5 noat material to the Fund's financisl satements a5 & whole, a5 Fund
s 4 lessor,
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BOMNY AN REIT FLINI
(MANAGED BY SAUDI FEANSI CAPITAL COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the vear ended 31 December 20149

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICTES

The sarefican accousting ured m the preparation of thess inancial statements are cormistent with those used arl dsss losed
if the firsncial stmemerts for the penod enced 31 December 2018, excepd fior the poficies explnired beiow

Basad on the adoption of new standand: expliined b note 4, te fellowing accountivg policies are applicable cffective 1
Tanueary 2009 replocing / amsendirg or ackdang 1o e comespanding aceounting policies set o iy 2008 lrancial satements,

A Policies effective from 1 Janeary 2019
Riglt of Use Asset / Leaae Liatulities

O anitial pecognition, ot wceptxm of the contract, the Compemy shall assess whsther the contra is, af corfaing, s leme A
Conlricl B, or cortains, @ lease il the conlrmdl com'eys e aghe W codiral the we of an identifled sl for o period of tme
in exchange [or consideration. Control 5 xlenlifed i most of the benefils wre lowing to the Company amd the Company
can direct the wags af sueh ety

Right of Use Assets

Compemy apply cosl mecde], and meisre mehl of we nssetal ost;
@) Teessurm acoamuliled deprecsation smd ey nooumubited inpimment bosses: and
b} Adivsted for amy re-mennremen of the kease liokiligy for lease medificmions

Lese Lisbility

O anitial recognition, the lease finkelity i2the present valie of all remaimivg payments i the lessor
Adter the commencemen dase, Compemy memwres the lease hahi ity by

. Erseressing the carmying amdant o reflect ineres on the lease liablty

2. Roducing the camying ameant toe refleet the lesse payments mads and,

3. He-meameing the caneying amount 1o reflect asy re-ssessment ar lease modification.

I Policies effective from 01 Jansary 2018
ashi wmd caxh eyivalenis

Cash and cash eguivaberts comprse cagh n hand asd bank balances, and are available for use by e Fued unless otherwess
Flated

Frawrinet al insiviimienta

A financaal irstrument 15 amy contract that gves nse w2 financial asset of ore enbify and a financial lability or equty
irstrument of ancdher erdity
i, Fsranedal e fs

Chaesifiohion of fingneiul msefs

Om omitinl recognibion, & fmancsal mes 1w clissihed &= measured o amormss] ot Far Value Through Other
Comypreheraive leome (FVTCOT) or Fair Value Through Profitor Less (FVTPL]

Iiwamrctaal wsser f feddl ol aworiised cost

A lrsnicial asset 3 meéasired o0 amorfised cost o #§ nesets baih of the Bellowing conditsons and @ pot desymeted as al
IFvTiL:
o the aset is hebd within s business model wheae obfective is to hold sssets o oolbeer conracnes cah fowes; amd

»  the corgrachm] tems of the financial ssset give s on specified dates fo cash flows that are solely paymenis of
principsd smad inberest on the procipe] nmounl outstandmg (O SPPC)
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BONY AN REIT FUIND

(MANAGED BY SAUDI FEANSI CAPITAL COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the vear ended 31 December 20149

5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICTES (CONTINUED)

Frvreredal aesetd el af PVTOCE

Ay delt sstpupent is messured ot FYTOO] ondy iT 0 mveetas both of e followng condaizans amd is not desipnaced as

FVTPL:

o dhe asset s Pedd within o busireas mede] whose olseetive is achieved by both collecting eomiracual cash floves aod
sellivg inancial ssscts, and

= the combruciual lerms of the fnancal wsel give nse on specilied dales 0 ceh Bows that sre solely nuyments aoff
princiml imd mderest oo the principal amownt autsimmdm,

FWTOCT del instnaments s subsequently meosured @ fair value with gains and losses arising dve vo changes in i
viihae recogniaed in O Specal eomim ksion income and foreign excharge gaira or leases are resogniesd in statemen
of comprehensive meome.

Eipreitay I trumireiirs

Om gl recogroton, 07 an eqaty investent that 15 net ket for tredmg, the Fund may mmevecably elect to present
subrsequent changes in fair value in OOl Thas elecion 15 made on an ineesmeeni-by-investmenrs basis

Frivrctal wase ts el ot FVTEL

All cther finunceal asseds are clussifiod ns mensured ot FVTPL. This muy melude equity hele for trmding ard debl securities
not clnssfied as either amartised cest ar FYVTOC]

In addition, on initial recognition, the Fend may also irevocably desgnate o fnancisl assat st FVTEL that atherwise
meets the requirements o be measured a amonsed costor-at FYVTOCT, iF doing soeliminates or signi lcantly reduces an
aceonmirg mameich that would otberw iz anse,

Finuncinl wesets are nal rec lesnfied subseguient 1o lkeir metud recognition, exoepl m the pencd aller the Furd churges 1is
husimess maode] for mamging remeod asets

Tnprairmeent of fimancial assels

The Furl rucogrises a s nllowimes lor saposted cruchl e (ECL ™) onn fmasenl sl thg i messursd ol amectised
cudt or classled = FVOCT al ench reporting dote, ol un amount equal o the lifeisme B0 4 the credit resk on ihat
finamcial instrumant has incrensed significantiy snce snitial recognition. When making the assessmant, the Fund uses the
charge m the nsk of 3 defmult occurrmg over the expected Life of the finmecial instrament instead of the change mn the
amound of BCL, To make that sssessmeent, the Fund compares the risk of & defauk ocournng on the financial instrument
a5 At the reporting date with the nisk of A detault accumng on the financial insrument as st the date of iitia] recognition
and considkers ressonebles and supponiable infermation, ket i available witkoast undies cost or effon, that is sulicative of
aagraficant mormees m erodit risk smce nitial recagnition. The Furd sesmes tht the credit risk on o Snancinl matrumon
hus nid, mreased spmificomly ance mitwl recogrution of 11 1 debsrmined e haee losw eredhl red: ol the pepartmyg dale.

IL, oL the reportirg date, the credin nsk on a linmcnl instrament bz nol increased significanily since misl recognitson,
the Fund enensures the lass allownnee for that financial instresent sl an amount equal o 1 2manth RO Faor receivahles,

the Fund always measure the loss allowarce at an amount egam] o liketims BCL
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i(MANAGED BY SALUDT FRANSI CAPTTAL COMPANY)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year anded 31 Pecomber 20049

5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICTES (CONTINUED)
Fraunned al snatruments feonbinued)
it Fancinl wsse s fepniinped

gt rame mit of firsaesci ol isse s (oot ned)

Tividerce ol impairment may include indicatwans Lhat the debiors or agroup of debilors is experiencimn ssmeficant lmancil
daffieulty, defmultor delinguerssy in interest or prmcipal oy ments, the probability thal they will enler Bankroptoy or other
firancial rerepanization aad where abservable data indicats that there = 5 mearurahle decreass ) the catimated fubee
cah flovws, sueh as champes i arreans or scomomes conditions that coenckate wath defaults. For finencial assets samied at
amarized cost, the Fand fera assesses whether Empaironent oxists individually Tor fnancia] assets that are individually
sgpralicant, or collestrvely for financial assctsthet ace ol indvidually sigrificard. [ikbe Fund determines that no objectve
evidinece of rmpairment éxisls Gar on mdivedmdly meessed Gnoncial s, swhether segrificant or mal, 1 iechides the assel
in A group of fimancial essets with sicnalor credit risk charmcenstics and collectyrely easesses them for tmpoinment. Asseta
that are melwidunlhy sssessed for impeirment and for which an impeirment loss is oF comlinues o be, racogrised ars not
incheted in o collective sssesament of impairmen

The Furkl measures ECL of o Orancial imstrument moa wiy that reflects i unhiased and probabelity-weighted smwuni
ihar e determined by evaluateng & moge of possible cateomes, e thees vakee of msney; and the reasonnbls aed
suppartable nformation that o avalsble witbom widee cost or offodt at the reporting dabe about past evenls, swrrent
corditiees ard forecasts of fture sconormio comsditions

The curyrg nmoeanl of the nusel 15 redoced browgeh the use of an allowance aocourt and e amoant o the loss 1s
recoumased m the salement of comprehersive moome. Specinl commamion noome condinees i ke accrued on the groes

CATYING amount uang the efectve rote of interest unless the financial rstrument i oredit-impamrad inowhich case the
apecis] coumm ission moome s recognsed on redoced camying, amvouing. The special commission inoome i reconded as

jpart of firanes revenue inthe statement of compreheaive ieamse

Dhere gt I vt

Tl Fusd dereecgniecs @ fimancial geset when tbe cortraciual rghes to ihe cash Mows Troms the lomncial aset egpue, o
it translers the pphis fo recaive the eontmetin] sesh llows B o tramestian m owhich ssbstamtbialby all of the risks and

rewvinds af ownership of the financial asset ane transferced ar m whach the Fund neither immsfens nor retnans substastsally
all of the risks end rewneds of evnership and 10 dées ned retain contpal of the firnnem] nsssi

The Fund engers into transactians wherehy it tmnsfers assets recognised i its statement of financiz] pesitbon, but reains
eithez all ar substantidly all ol the nss and rewards ol the timslerred assets. n such cuses, the tenskored sl ore nol

derecrgnised
Chffas ity

Tnancind zessels and fnonciad Hubalibies wre offsel and the nel snounl presenied = the siotement ol fremcinl psstion when,
and anly when, the Fund currently has & legally enforceable right booset off e amsments and 8 imends cither ba se1tle them
o B pet basi o ho realise the asset nnd setibe the Liability sonuhaneously

b, Fioranetel labilities

The Fund classifies fs fnoncial latdities at ameortised cost unless 1t has designated linbalities st FVEFL, The Fund
derecognises a linancial liabilgy when its contractual ohligations are discharged or eaneelled, ar expire
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BONYAN REIT FUND
{MANAGED BY SAUTY FRANSI CAPITAL COMPANY)

MOTES TO TLHE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the vear civded 31 Doecembor 2019

. EUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICTES (CONTINITETY
Investment preperiics

Irresment properties are Real estaie that are beld for capetal appreciation and/or remal yields ase recorded as investnaem
propertes. Investment properises are staled ul oo leas acouenulated deprecubion end ony ompairment Josaes. Depreciation
is compaded uang the smsphi-lie methed The com less resdunl value of invesiment property = depreciaied over s
etimated wsalul fife & per the Deprecation policy inplece for the REIT. Ary capital egpenditure ineuarmed post aequisition
aninvestment propemties B deprecisted on Seraight line bass over its estimated wieful life s per the polioy,

Rasidual values aind il lives of wwestment propeny ane sehjec b0 roview and sdjutinent. o8 necesary, whn an st
cayaee expoads its recoverable amsonat, I has fo b writken down immedisely to its reeoverable amount Capital gaims
rezalt froen disposal arises when selling vahe of an assct exceeds s crrying valoe, recoaded innet besis in the statenset
of i,

Intargible assets

Tmtangible assets inchule compiter softsare and licemes Inangites pseis are indtmlly capitalissd ot cost and subseguenly
at cost Jess aecvmndibed degricsintion. Deprecation is compated wing the streight-ling meshod The eost less resicaal vakae
of intanygible aseets 12 depeecited aver ite eatimaied webll life a5 per the Depressation poley m place for the REIT

Fuarndlury and equipmant
Fumiure and cqupmert includes ax condibioners. campulees and prirters, electrioal toals, furnibure and loctres, offsce and
electniml eqaipmerd, Fumsture and equipment are imtElly eapitaliss] & ot and subsequently ot oot less pocmmulated

deprecsation. Deprecistion 15 computed wsing the stright-Ime methiod The cos Jess residunl vahee of mtargible assets is
depreciaied over ils estimated ussful life a5 per the Deprecistion poboy mplace for the REIT

Estipmated welisl B for deprectation / amortisition

The estumated vsedisl bl fog myvesistenl prapenes, intanashle sssets and forminiee and souipmet 18 as belaw!
®  Irvesimbenl properises 20t Sk yenrs

= [mangible asscts = W 20 yoara
= Fumnidiury mmad sequipmeend 3 ko Ty
Impairment of non-currend assels

Properties nre revieaed For impmrmeent wherever evends or chinges incircursbances mdicate thal the carmying smount may
mid be recoverahle. Sm impaEment loes is recogmied (o the amoun by which the carrymp asound of the aseel exeesds €2
meziwverable amcamt which ia the higher ol an &sel’s fair volees keae cost e sell and valee inuss Where an mpainment loss
suhapquently reverses, the camying amoant of the propenty is ncreased o the revised estimate aof its recoverable amoun,
It the Ecrcased camyirg apcint showld mot excoed the caryareg amciant thet would have been determaned, lssd no
usprabrm boss been recognized for the assets of chshrganersung il o prlor yeais A evorsal ol an impalmsent loss i
recognized ns mocme immedintely @ the sintement of comprehensive icome.

Accreed expenses and ofher lohdlities

Auciued expenses and oty pavables are recoghised imtially at fr value s subsegoently measured at asneetised cost
ussrng the Gffcetve comim o rate method.

A prenviaion i recogiesed wieen the Furd hie o peesesn lenl o corstrucive ohliastnn i o realt of past events, it s proballe
that & oultlow of esmres embodymg ecoremic berefits will be required i stk the obligation, snd a reliable estate
o The nencant can b mindks, Prowvasson b oo recopnined for funee epenating loas
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NOTES TO THE FINARCIAL STATEMENTS
Far the ymrurlﬂ.u{l.?l ecember M4

£ EUMALARY OF SICGNTFICANT ACOODUNTING POLICTES (CONTINUED)

Eevenue recognition
Hemial income

Rertal inecme receivabbe from opernling besse of property iz recograzed on a sraight-line basis over the term ol the
e s,

Revenue from bofel services

Buevignee froen koted services eomprisss renciie from socens, food and beverages and odher associated serveces provided.
The reveme 15 recoprzed not of discous, applicable woe and sonicipality fees onan sccrual basis whea the saovices
are remderad

Revenue ks mepsured based on the considemtion specified in o contrect with customer and excludes amount ecllected on
behall of thurd parties The Fund recognizes revemie whes 5t transfers condrol over 2 prodact ar ssrvice to-3 customer.
The principks = IFES 15 are appled using the following five steps:

= Biep 1 The Furd sccounts for g conired. with a casiomer when' The comme s been approsed sl the parties we
commdiled, Foch purly s mghis ore ilentifed;, payment loms e delmed; Lthe comtnac hes commeeran| subsiance;
arl sollection 15 probable

= Siep 2: The Fund idertfy all promised goods or services i a contrnet and delermines whether & nccount for ench
promised gocd or service as o separste perfommance obligation

*  Biepd: The Fund determing the transaction price, which isthe anwwn of consklerntion o expects to be entithad o
n exchange for immsteming promised geods or serveiees (o B cislomer

+  Step 4 The trananction pres in an esmagentant is nlleeatsl o ensh mparate performance oblignbien baaed an the
relative standalone selling poice of the pocd o servese balng provided to the custoser

+  Siep 5 Reverue i recopnived whim control of the goods or senvices = transferred 1o the customer. The Fund
tramsfers o ppeod or senace when the oslomer chines cantred of that good o service. A customser oblans conlnal
ol o good or seroce 111 his the shhiy o direct the we ol ind recerve the benell fom the good or serace.

Mlanagement Nees and olher expenses

Manapement fees and ofher expenses ane charged at rales / smonmes wrihin limdts menfioned i terms and comadrions of the
BEIT MBregemer Bee is caloulated and payabis quarterly m amesrs

Custody fees

s et the lerms and amnditions of the Furd, the costodmimn chianges €002 5% per ammam ol the Fund's netasiets The fee s
calculmted an the net asset valae of the Fund dnd is paynble an o quariecly basis

Foreign exchangs transsctions

['ramesetioms 1 foresgn curmencied are trorskated ab the loreign eurmency exchnrge rite raling st the date ol the tmmssctxm
hdometnry asseis and liokdities denomimated in [oeegn cuamencies are retranslaled fo SR ol the forign curency cloaing
exchings rane ruling af the reporting dabe. Foreign currency @ockange differences arabng oo retraralanion and reallsed gaing

and fomses on dispesabs or sclllemaits of moncuy assels and Labibibes ane recognised un the detement of pralit or Joes and
atber comprebensive Income.

Faubaal

Folemt 25 oomputed on the Ssudt shareboldiers” share of equaty or net moome 16ing the basis defmed wnder the Taknt
remuleiions. Zakat are socmed on 8 quarterty hasis amd charped to gatement of comprebensive mcome,

Tl pasels valoe

Thz et gesets vahoe per unit disdlosed in the financial statements s caleubsted by dvidmg due et sesets of e BEIT by e
murtber of wraits in ssue at the period-ad

DHvidemal distribmetion

The REIT has a policy of dissibating on semi-snmslly ot lesst 5006 of its net prafit, not including poobn resultng from the
sake of the underkying real estate pasets and other v estmenis,
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BONYAN REIT FUND

(MANAGELD BY SAUD FRANSI CAPITAL COMPANY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the yeur ended 31 Devember 2019

o SHGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING UDGMENTS, ESTIMATES ANID ASSUMPTIHONS

The preparativn of e Fued s (mecnl ssiemenis moordumity with the 1IFRS ondorsad in the Kimgdom ol Soud A,
roquires the use o estmutes ol ussureptims that alfect (b reported umeaunts of assen imel hnhehises ol dscheme of
cembingenl ivgels and habehites an the reportmyg dae ind the reported amowmnis of revenue end expenses during the repoeting
penod Estimntes and judgments are contimslly evalmied and are based on higoneal experience and other lheears,
meluding expectations of futire events that are believed 1o be reasonable under the cevumstinces. The Fund makes
cstimates and assamplions consermng the fubire. The resulting aecounting sstnates, by definition, mmy differ from the
relabedd norual resules

Sigralan areas where managumen: bas used estivmes, sssumplions o ¢xerciss] prgements are as [oflows

iofng concern

The Fund Marager has made am assessment of the Fund s abildy 1o continue os o going oonern ond & satisbisd thai the
Funid has the resaurces bo comtinue = business for the foreseeable fidure, Futhenmore, the Fund Manager i not avware of
aty mibertal uncertzntses theet miny sl ssmifomi doubl upm tee Fund's ity o csbnes asq goirg concem. T herelire,
the limnoal stements combmue o he prepared on e gomg concern hasis.

Tripraatwsirenif of sron-financial gsaefs

The curymg amwies of the non-fmincial assels are reviewed & the end of ench reporting date or more frequently &
deermine whether there is any indication of impainment. [T any such indication exisis, then the asset’s recovernbie amoym
i estiftrined

Aq imparenent boss s recograzed o the carvarg aount of an ossel or a cash-generatiig unil axceeds the recoversbi
amounl The recaverahle ansoumt of an sset of cash-generatmy unit 15 1he greater ol its value e mad s for vinloe leas
conts fo sl I escsming vilue in use, the estimeried fubure ah o are discounisd (o their present vidues using the pre-
niut disooir rte Bl rellects the current markel asessments of linse value of maney and the risks specific o the nset The
finir value less cost bo sell is based on chservabbe merket prices of, if oo sbaervable market prices east, estimated prices
for simiilar assets ar if po estmmeated pres B dmilor ssels e availnbde, then beeed on deenoed fuhre cishe Tow
calcubairms

Vialauti ot of dsvestiment properites

TmpEurment éxiss when the carmving value of i sset or cnsh gersemting onil eooseds ils recov eribbe wmourne, which is the
Thighier af its Sir value ks cocts b acll and ite valee bnowse, The fair valoe bee oot ool caleulation is bacsed on availabde
data from binding sales arsactions. conduwred at ann's lengty Por similar assets of observable maket pokoes less
imremereal eosts for disposing of the ssael. The value in use calendstion is beeed on o dscountod cash o model. The
by fows ane derived froen the budpet for the assets” wseful Lives arsd do nod irchude pestmoctunig activ i that e Fund
1= maL yer Comenined o oF sshilica fuare myestmenls thal wiil eshance each assel’s perforiamnce of the cish-pereniling
unit being testesl. The necoveznble smount = sersibive o the disaounl sile wied Tor te discounted b Qoo meodel s sl
s lhe wapeited [ubre cush iy and the growth ride wsed Foe eatmpalilon purpsses

The valustion & the v estment properiies {the “properties™) s camied o by VahSimt Consuling Company and Sasd)
Aaset Valubion Company, These two voluers ane licensed by the Seudy Authony for Accredsted Yaluers " TAQEER),

The valuticn moedels bave been applied n pceedancs with the recommendation of the Dinetvatioss | Valuaton Susderds
Cammittes. The Fund manager his conclided than the valoation medels v by the Fund are comsistent with the principles
in IFRS 13, These models comprise land plus coa methed, rescdusl value method o the dascourtied eash Qow (“DOTF)
methmd

Unuder 1he DECF methed, o property s Gur valee s esumiled waimg @xpdicil issumyizons reerdmig Lhe benelits and hokalities
af owrership over the weet’s like ncluding sstmaled rental income and enoexit or ermiral viloe. This mvolves he
projestien of aseries of cmhb Aows do which an appropriste, madket-derived disscount e @ applied to catablah the precnt
vahae of the income stream (see pote 230,

Fasdalul el waeful Boes of fsvesTorent properties, fumisd fure st egaipneni

‘The KEIT s manapenyent determeines the estimated residual value and wsebul lves of 25 mvestment properties, furminae
gl eqquipment for cobelating deprecistion. These edimates are delermined sfier considering the expectad usage of the
asels or physical wenr and ber, bMarmpgemerd wall reveew the residual vabee amd wassful lives ammally and e
deprecanion charge would be sdiusied where the meanagemsenl belioves the welal bives differ from prev s estmabes
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BONYAN REIT FIIND

(PAAMAGED BY SALID] FRANSLCAPITAL COMPANYY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fur the year eimled 31 Decomber 2009

G SPGNIFICANT ACOOUNTING JUTMEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUNMEPTIONS (COMNTLNU EL)

Fypwried oradil liss

The messwemernt of the expected credi boss allowance for inancial asets measwed & amortized cost @ an arcs that
rogaives the use ol complex models and spaniloant assumpioons sbout el coenomic coaditions and aodit behawicar,
A number al sy heant jucgments are also regumed moappdomg the peooumibmg requaements o measunng expected
aredhl foss (ECT), sech

- Dwterreining criferin for sspgraficant monease i credit nsk;
- Cheosng appropnae models andd sssamptons for the messiremem of BCL;
- Esiablishing the mumber amd relaive weighimgs of forward-leoking scersmmos for each fvpe of produch et and

the assccated ECL; and
= Establishing greup of similar firasc) aesets (or the parpises of messuning ECL

T. STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
Meers IFRS, srvenifirents st eivterprefofiones desued nod ged affective wnd pot garl i aekopete o
Thure mre several samalards ol mlerpeolatoms thal uee e, bt poe yel effssive, wp o the date of the Funsds fmmial

shitemenis I the opirnon of the Beard, these ssmadircds wall hiree ne sigra i impssct an the Gnancind sidements of the
Furnd Tlae Fursd indends te adapt these sapdards, if applicable
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BONYAN REIT FIIND

(PAAMAGED BY SALID] FRANSLCAPITAL COMPANYY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fur the year eimled 31 Decomber 2009

B CASH AN CASH EOQUIVALENTS

Mashi i csth equvalent compmsead of the Tollowimg

FF Daranvher
21 Decensher MR
Jaje (R ezt
hild iR
Biunk Badsnce I3 403 0D 32,19] b
nzh m hand PRI A0
J3 2530640 12 321068

The cash at bank are held in o owrens ascouns wish local bapks

The mansgement bas canducied o review ol thess bakness, s recaited voder IFRS 0 el based o aikch an assesmen,
the mannzement believes thal there i no need fora losa albovance sguore the samympg value of ok Belanees

Yoo INVESTMENTSS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROWGEH PROFTT (R LSS (Y TP

Livesimnants as o the repocting date compese of twvestmeans i mutual fonds,

31 Decembar
I Decemiber 20Ty
2010 {Resfaied
i) b))
Firsncial assets measured at Mair valee through profit o ks
(FY¥TFL)
Al Badr blurabsing Fond 1,850
The lalleaving = the mevementm myestments durmg the venr | pered
F! December
A1 Deceniher 208
St {lngd peut]
b1l SR
TR T T TS ———— T
At bepinning of the year | periol - E
Adldtiens duging the vear | parod 65, L0 .
Sl cunireg the year | percd &4, 97,173
Al end of the yeur / period THIT
(“hamges fa finir value:
Changes m finir value during the year / persod i
Pt inviestmennts al end st year / period A58 -

Agat 31 Decenther 2019, Boryan REIT Fund his as irvestmenta of | 84 units m Al BADR Musabshs Fusl Bomyan
BEEIT amd Al BALIR Musmatsaha Fund are nsanagged by sme Faod Pakaget e Sandl Frasss Capital
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BONYAN REIT FUND
(MANAGED BY SAUDI FRANSI CAPITAL COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
Far the vear ended 31 December 20014

I RENTAL INCOME HECENY ABLE; NET

Rernal ineome resevable comprised of the felloaing:

A December
A December 2o &
e (R stk
i &R
Heninl income receavabla E5 412 481 &1 06T, 589
Lz Loy nllowanes (3 175,M5) (330,103
SX2I65TH (P, 730, 480
I he mewement mobees wdlowanee 15 as Tolkows:
Cipening baknce JEL x
Charged durang the vear ! period L B4 805 330,03
Balmge at the end ol the yvear / pened 3 AT5 008 330, b03
Baloaw is the aging nralysis of gross rents moome receivables:
300 sy 10 R03 9= 17022 s
1-4 momths 22 950 550 55,2159 (30
5-12 manahs B4, 148,620 3,800,505
Chver 365 days 7508354 -
Ealmee at the snd of the wear ! period E5 412 483 &1 T, 585
11, PREPAYMENT ANIDOTHER ASSETS
A Davambir
A1 December il
20re (Rasrated
SR b1
'I-"':Ep:id MSUTANCe 166,315 1 11ER1%d
CEber prepad expenses imd other neets 5140354 1575513
Advanoe payment b suppliors 5105872 01169
VAT ingput credin Tl AIT 1463, TH
WE15958 G361 040
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BONYAN REIT FUND
IMANAGED BY 3ALII FRANS] CAPTTAL COMPANY)

4

NOTES TO TIE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the vear caded 31 Decongber 20019

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

JI December

2

KR
Balanes at the beginming of the year [ period GLE A4
Additiors durieg the year / peried AgR 055
Trsmsler m from [ormolore and equpment (nele 13) TAE5S
Balanee wat the erd of the vear |/ period 1,090 350

\ Jated e

Babames gs ol 1 Junvery 2019 {94,255)
Chanee for fie venr (203,633)
Tramsfer en from fimatuse and equgpnaent (pebe 3] {10 s08)
Balames ai the end of the year | penod {3 a9}
ok Value wt the end of e year £ period TR LSS

L3 FURNITURE ANIF EQUIPMENT

31 Decembar
20A
R exbirirall
iR

0154400

G215, 4408

{95,259
{05,259

REIRLY

31 Devermber 2018

il Decomber 20019 XK (raraecll
Furniture ard  Capial work in ;
equipmT progres Lt Yl
Lol
EHL'EITU; at the beginning of the year 11,018,118 ’ SR Tt
{ peria
Additioes during the year / period G50, 49 0664, 10,314,592 11018118
Fiued assces seld ¢ wnrten off (TE,044) i [ TEA44) -
Tramsler oul 1o intanaibles (mete 11 {555 - (TREES)
E;'f;‘f* at the eodd of the year | 11,517,717 wet40M  ILISLEIL L1L008,118
Arcumdnted P precintion and
Eal.m:-ue ! the beginning o the yer
al the begi al the

/ period (1,996,045} - {1,996.045)
harge o the year / period e : {40 TRIAT) 100 DS
Keversal of sccumuibed -
depreciation T i b )
Trams(er oul 1o nlargibles (mete 123 1L KIMI : L s
it akia bt b 15,985 563} - [EaERSEY) (1996045
Hank Valus at the cnd of the year LRI 154 0 et 15, 195248 DIZTOTE
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BONY AN REIT FLINT
(MAMAGLD BY SALIDL FRANS] CAPTTAL COMPANY)

NOTES TOCTHE FINANCIAL STATEMERNTS
For the yenr ended 51 December 2019

14, INVESTMENT PROFERTIES

A1 Decenrher 200 % SR

Lawil Bultding Taral
Lost
Balamoe ot the beginming of the year 143 845 T0s 1541 220 879 LTRE 3T oy
Additeons. chiring the vesar - 1,054,158 1054 150
Fooed assem seld / woitnen off - (17,605 (17 665
Babanoe it the erxl of tee et WIRAS IS | 543466354 1.THT 30 550
Accumulated [ prociation and
Lmipajrment
Balaacs at the beginning of the year (LILJ3RTRZ)  (13L,334.732)
L"|1u1gr far the yeur {42,1TL 441 (42, 17L 4400
Rewversal of Tmpnirment foss 26451509 2ip 451509
Babance at fhe end of tee voar (147030573} {147,059,573)
etk Valioe il Uhe el of 1B vear 43 HEE NS 1 5, 40, THT T4, T 440 BHEG

31 December 2008 [Reatated) 57

Leamed Huiiliting Yiatal
ot
Balancs at fie bemnmng of the pemod - - -
Addinees during the peried 243843, 20% 134052880 LTREATI (A
Balamos ot te ercl of the period Zd3 B3 2005 1,541,523 282 I.TES 3T (rd
desumulated Déprecmbicn and
Iinpaitiieat _
Balimee at the bemnning af the pemcd - . .
Chanze for the pered {I0058,2500 (20058 150
Imparment loss (TI0380482  (R10 380432
Babancs a1 the oo of U - period - (130,335,732 (R31 338 737)
Bock Valug ot the end of the period SR LA IR EET LASA03 30T
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BONYAN REIT FIIND
(MANAGED BY SALIDI FRANSI CATTTAL COMPANY)

WOTES TO TIIE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Farr the year cided 31 Dhcomber 2019

14, INWESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINIUED)
The ivvestment preperties represend following ten propertics, ramely:

The Al Rashid hdegn Mall irvesiment, a freehold property soquarsd by the Farel, i loested in Madingh ard is classifisd
s b the Cosenercial seevor.

The Al Bashid 3ab - Abha investent, a keaschold property soquired by the Fund under o 20 vear usabruct agresment,
15 bcated i Abhue w15 clzalied as 0 the Comoseronld sedios. The Funel his the raghl bo purchise this property culnght
wiilhan 5 yeurs Fram the signing date of the wsdneet apreement [or o commderabon of SAR 110 milhon

hdoreowar, the Fund was bable 1o piy SAK 148 Bmillion as g laan lahility 2 per the leass agreement, which have bean
recognised wnder dug 00 related party. The said lease lihility of SAK |48 8 million is cdyue to mature within ane year s
of date of statement of financial position

The Al Rashid 5ol - Jnzsn, & frechold property noquired by the Fumd, ivestmen is located in Jamin ard i= olasified
&5 i the Comenercial secbar,

The Al Rushid S Mall wvestment, a freebald properly regured by the Funed s located i Bavadh and 5 clasileed as

1n the Covmmercial seclos

The Conwtymed Marriott Hatel inveament, o froshold property sequired by the Fand, b keated in Jazan ard s clomified
% it the Four Star Hotel seetar

The Besidencs lian by Masrsott investment. o freshold propety scquoned by the Fumd. & losated in Jamn ard i3 classified
as im the Four Star Aparimers Hodel sector

Nrrion Executive Apiriments investmenl, s Ereehodd property acgaired by the Fund, is localed in Bndinah snd s
alnsi foed ns in the Five Sar Apartment Hobel sector

The Citywalk Resideminl Fuilding irvestment, a freekold propaty acquired By ke Fund, ia lncated in Tiihai ared iz
classified as in the Residmtial secior

I'he Al Hafigh Villeae investment, 8 freshold propery sequined by the Fund, 15 bocated in Boyvadh and 15 classified a5 1o
the Keaidentzal secior

The Al Muaiher Villas Crmples mvesimeni, o [reehokl property aogpared by the Fund, = located 1 By ard =
alnmsified ns in the Residentinl seetor

The imvestment propesties are held in the reme of “Banyan Real Bstate Fund Cne Persan Company LLC ("Special Purpose
Vehnole - 3PV ) which = cwned by the AlBilad Trvestment Company (" Cusiodmn of the Furd™) The propertses are held by
i SV om bebwalf of the Fund
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BONYAN REIT FUND
(MANAGED BY SALIDT FRAMNST CAPTTAL COMPANY)

MOTES TO THE FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
For the venr ended 31 December K00

15, RELATER PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANUES

Falated partees are conssdered to be relmted if cne porty has the ability to comtrol the ather party or mxeroise
sigmi fcinl influenoce over the olher party in making Brancind or aperational decisions. Tn conselening ench possable
related pary reldionship, attention is directed o the substanee of the relmtionship. not merely the leaal farm

Felated partiss molude Soudi Framsi Capial (“the Fund BMunager’™), Bangue Saodi Frams (the Bard snd the
sharcholder of the Fund Bdannger). Albilsd Investmemt Company (he Custodian”™), Sawd Bomyun Company
(b the propeny marager of the invéstment properie). the Funds' Boeard of Dirsctors (BOEY, aMiliaes of the
Fund Marsger, the Funds marsged by the Fund Marager and the [nit holders of the Furd ircluding Abdul

Eahman Sad Al Bealid & Sons Company {being & ashaantial unithalder),

I the ordmury oourse of als actvabies, the Fusd emsacts busmess wath reloled paties. The relaled party
tramesicliones e governed By limils sel by the regulabiores issued by Chdd, All the related porty runssciions age
ppreswed by the Fued Board Trensaobons with relided parties dunmgz the penads mnd balances are ax ol kows:

Related Arivoitrt of Ao of Bilsices
Party Natiere of fransaction franses i ons tranzachions Feoripabiles /{ Payatiles)
Fiar the peavod
Foor thes pear from 03 Jaly JEE 31 Decembier
eriaded g 3 Docembyy 31 Dvceniler g
A Dwcamber 200 % QR is { Bestafed)
sk SR SR AR
Soudi Fransi  Asset managemenk fees
Capital {Fund  (nate "a” balow) (TI1HHETI) {4 147587 (LEREAHN (404758 T)
mnager)
Capmal Sruenirng fea 5 2
hote "H™ halaw) . RRAE B ) .
lispenzes pud by the
Fumd manzger sn behll - {284,702 (284, 7025
ol ke l'und
Board of Board faesto
directors mdependent bopr) { 1URS b1 [0 CELIRL LT R LAY
msemibers
Saudi Borvas Propery Management
Cosspany Fods 1 AT0ATL 4 51 6T (EA43 144) |, T3 50T
Properly Opemting
Experses £ 307,779 2T RS (TS T ) {6, 1L B3
Purchase of intargibles £ S30181 a -
Purehnse of furnoture and
et s - SOZ2OTE - -
Purchase of 1rvestmer =
phudsionay - Ebi) 77,7500 - -
Acuniea i mpglio . SOTLEZ0 5071 Em
[2ue from Froperty
marager [or rent - W21 475 - 1,621, 475
el Beeticm
Cagh collected against e PRty
el kil issesikiss O, 88, 50T 5542 0010 - {52 09110)
Cash pasd agamst old
rerfal mecerved ALLALY . -
Crthrs % 671) ¥
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BONYAN REIT FUND
(MANAGED BY SATITH FRANSI CAPITAL COMPANTY )

MOTES T THE FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
For the yeor ended 21 December 2010

i5. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONTINTED)

Related Marsemrad of Artiniapl of Rurlaives
F‘mt!r Mindaree r.f!'m:u:ﬂnﬂ frimmactices Inoesncbions Rocoiralbles Hiﬁmﬂﬂ}
Far the prar  For thu peried
eaded  fiowr O3 Sule 2008 A1 Decemler
A Dpcember [0 3 Ducendber 31 Dvoemnier adlg
fed 20E 2019 { Reshrlal]
SR SR R sk
O S S - - (VB61 60000 (1846, 160,000)
Al Bashid &
Sons Addition o [mvestment )
iy ® Propertios ® - R LT - (2A8LATY)
Addti vt m ot
f ian to e 1,954,130 - (44,986) ~
Capital work in progress i, g - {9,664 0945

The Fund mainmened cosh with Sawcli Fronss Caperal of 5K 21652162 (31 Decemyber 1018 (Resatad) 5K
14, 465 345). This cosh 3 deposited noa ourrert scoount maminmed with Bancoe Saudi Frans: under the rame of 1he
Fizd mansger ¢ Saudi Fransi Capiml)

Asat 31 December 2019, Bonyan REIT Fund has an iveestmerts of A4 anifs in Al BADE Mumbabha Fund. Bonyan
REIT und Ad BADE Misababo Fund ara mnmeged by soma Fund hdieneger 1.6 Ssuch Frame Capital

ey cdliponi o B goquisition of mvestngnn feoperTies ad defimed v Frands remis and coddmioas e Mo also
aoguined cther baioes moets aed Noabifities, whick o custemuory o the aperafions of smdedving properdies.

it .Humgrnrr:rrr,l"rr

Ao preer the rewins and soisditions of the Fund, fe Fand is liakde o pay the Fond Ranages o isinapeme fee bemg 0.5% of the
et asset volue of the Fund. The fee i odboaloeed from the net asset valne of the Fund after dediction of expeases and is poyabde
i quarlerdy b,

k. Capital shewctusing foe

As por the ferms mad ponditsons of the #and, for the penod mded 31 December 2078, the Fund Managor charged the Fusd, a
rmatime capiinl stchimng fee at the e of 1.5% on the cobeoription amounss mised dunrgg the [nitial Public Offering or any
anbsequent squity mised by mesos of npkvs e or oo conmibutions. Dnnng e pnor pened, thas foe smonmted to S8
2,004 TE2

Bo. ACCRUEDN EXPENSES ANIDVOTHER LIABLITIES

3 Decembr
I December JOIE
L {Hestatedl
SR S
Trade and cher panabia Lih, 0, 615 G261 0455
Froperly Marsgemenl Lee TA43. 184 o TR 55T
Eroperly {iperaling expenses 7063, D1 o, 109735
Apgroed exgponses S H23.910 2253059
FF arsd E ddsavis 4245514 a4 ]
Advonce from customers ERCLN 4,41 6625
Cizstoedy tees IS, TEL ITLARL
Lasting fees 156,507 131,507
Audid fees #0,K 116 00
Board mnel commilies fes 30,00 AlLHA
Fropeny Vabestion lee 160, M) -
Crber payakle J07, 074 205247
o 1, 290 R LAl
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BONYAN REIT FUND

(MANAGLED BY SAUDI FRANSI CAPITAL COMPANY)

46

NOFIES TOCTHE FINANCLAL STATEMENTS
For the yoar endied 31 Docember 2019

17 INCOME FROM INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Imieme Troom invesimenl properlies
Lease remtal mcamse on invesiment properiies

Revenues from hote] servioes

Ciperational costs for investment propertics

Mol income from investment propertios

Far phe pear Far fie pe o from
erided O3 Sl 201 8 f2
31 Decenther 2009 31 Docareher M
i SR
193 023 524 O, T9GED
198673177 B 765,516
L0259 EH 4059 270
[\h, SAHE LS b g | 9,050
132 50 5d1 S2630 325

Revesue from hotel services compries revenise Brom roone, Feod ared beverapes s other ssociated ssrvices provided

Future rental commitmencs {io be receved) at perwod ! vear end, wnder the operating leases 15 as follows:

twat lnter than one vear

Eater than one year ard ke than five veors

Lager than five years

5. OFHER EXPENSES

Eegrstmbion Fee
Custody Fee

Propenty Yalestion Fees
Lising Fees

At Fee

Poard & Commillee Fes
Benk Charges
Fuhlzhing 1've
Eapulatary Fee

Crhers

31 Dpcember
208
S5

3 RS S5
124,518,393
03,976 84T

311,158,795

21 December
R
bt

il 17T
450,813
Jil iR
20,000
1141, B401K
LIS,
16,440
£ 000

7 400

-

53,000

1,1, o

31 December
208
e

171,560
147460481
G305 00N

133.055,924

3 December
Jora
b

137,280
272,482

131,503
110k LA
L HH
13,8105

308

38,371
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BONYAN REIT FUND
(MANAGED 3Y SAUDI FRANEL CAPITAL COMPANY")

MOTES 1O THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the vear andel 31 Decemba 2019

19, EARAT

ap s for Sakal;
Lip ta the pervad ersled Discember 31, 2018, the Fund wos not sabject 1o Zakas. Howver, durieg the year 20048, the
Fursl voliniarily regedersd as o Zacatable enty. Zakat is payable 6t 2 5% of hgher of 1he approsamane maket hase
anil mehueted met tncome aiinbutehle o the Lintholders

A the ket hase of the Fund wos regitive. Accordmuty, e Zakat for the year ws compilesd onibe baas of wdueied

nel income.

by Fakat charge for the year / period:

1§ Decenber 31 Dscambar
2009 2t
S Al
Bet ncome before =akat for the yvear Spenod SRR T RGT -
Audpustment
Albewnnce for Expected Crecil Losses (BCL) pRTER) =
End off service provasion chimged during the vear |/ period 113 46 -
FF &E reserves charped dunng the year | perod 3RS -
Adjusted Met Incame 0T TR =
Zakal peroeninge - 2.5% 2.8% -
440,119 .
¢]  Movement of provision for zakat;
FF December Al Dwcwmbrer
e 1L 208
K SR
Balamoe ai the operang, of Ehe year ! peried - -
Prow iiom {of e venr © period 20 1Y -
Payments dusing the yeur  pericd . -
Balanice ot the ered of the vear | penoed 211 -

df Status of wpnael return and sssessanenis:

Ther Fursd would file the smnual] retam tor the yearanded 31 Deacember 2005 writhun the stipalated tmebines s spectfed
umder the Zakat reguishions wsoed by Genem] Acthonty of Zakat and Tax (GAZTT)
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BONYAN REIT FUND
IMANAGED BY SALIDI FRANST CAPITAL COMPANY?

MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 20009

20 FIMANCEAL INSTRUMENTS ARD RISK MANAGCEMENT

Ihe BELT s motivibes expose 110 8 Varey of Obancial risks madkoel dak, ooadin risk mndd Diguichny rigk, The KEIT s
oeerall nisk management progmm owses on the uwrprediciabality of fmoresl markets ard seeks 1o minimizg
retertial adverss elfects anthe REIT s Ginnrceal performammce

Firsmncial instruments camed i thess finsncial stasements principally inchade cash and cash equivalerds, ogher
receivahles, neerued linhilities nnd atber current lighilities. The particalar recognition methods adopted are discloaed
in the individval policy daterments assoeisted with cach fem Finaneial aesets amd Tabdlities s offeet amd e
atveamits seporied i the financ il satements, when ths REIT has a keably enforcsable ight s set off the recognrized
amodza and incends either 1o seitle on a oot basis, or to readize the assen and liabiliy simaliznecasky,

Markef risd

The REIT will be subgect to the geneml cerxlitions of the renl estate sector in Saud Ambnn and United Amab
Emirates, which mself i influenced by o vanety of [Botors such os, b not limited (o the eveall mecroeconomic
prorwth in the: country, imerest e, desmand-supply, syailabality of frareimg mveston semiment, lguidity, legsl
and regulitory chimges, and the gecpelitical environment. The REIT mampemend momtoms on & rgular basis the
flactunticn snd clorpes i the evemll cearamic envirommerd and believes that the impacd of much charges ia riod
sighificang to the KEIT.

Coreelis il

The Fund is exgposed to credit risk. wheich is the risk that one party o o fmancsal istrument will comess o finnncenl
lass Far the other party by filing to due from relsted partics an obiipation. The Fund & exposed 10 credin nsk for ifs
rental receivables, due from relabed pamies and bark balances,

A Drevambnrr
FI December 2l
20 ekl
KR B
Bank Balances A3, 553 064 ALA3210GH
Reral income receivakle 52,236,575 il Tab 4
Thie from rebatod partics - 021 475
55, THA35 L, e

[ts Fured' = policy to enter into fancial mstrument comtracts with repuitable courterpartizs. The Fured seedkes 10 lman
ite credit Tisk by mosilonng credit expoaures, [mutmg mnsactors wilh specific cowserparties and sombmually
asmesing the creditworthiness of counterpartes. Cash g placed with reputable financzal institutions.

Liguidity risds

Lesquikiny risk fs the ok Uss the Fured enay ot e able to genoate sulliclent cash resewess Lo setile its oblgations
in Fudl s they fall duc or can only do 3o on twmes that oo makeaiolly dessdvanageoes

The Furd Samagser morelors hguidily regurements by ersermmg Ul sellicenl lunds are aviclable 10 meet any
commitmens is they arse, either throush rew subsoriptsons, liqusdation of the investiment portfolio on by wking

bt germs bodens from e Fund Masswger, The tble below summarizes the masarity prefile of aignificant anets and
Ligkilities of the Fund based on expeced oetuites
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BONYAN REIT FUND
IMANAGED BY SALIDI FRANST CAPITAL COMPANY?

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 Lscember 2015

2. FINANCLAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTIN UEY

M Deceanber 20040
Less tham Maore than
_am Vear 06 Year Tm’;l_
Crsh amd cash equivalems A5, 588060 - 13555060
Femtal income receivable ELEH, AT - LI ETE
Inwastmeri prapeties - IRGETLE AR 1 FeRi i
Furmilsirs anel | - 15,1%3 240 15,153,248
'Irlhng;lHe isnels . TR GZE TRO G5
Tl Aswta 35.139..‘_315 ]H%‘H ll?ﬂﬁlﬁ'-'
Stamapement foc payable I Bl 380 . 1,801 380
Axcrud caponsea and other finbildica ET AL Tl B 196, 200
Provsman for Zakeat A4 11 - R ETIREL
Tue 1o related pastics 18,160,671 s 18, LHLATT
Trdsl Linhilities M,ﬁﬁ' 1306, 599 4650
Rarplus £ {Dedicid) {1400 S0 854 1.4656,232 801 12154205 088
A1 December 2008 (Restated)

Lzt Ui klome than Total

onE e CIMl VLT
Pl b
Cash and cash equivalens FT AT R 32,321,068
Rental income receivabl Gl P36 86 G 736,486
Tz from relased parties 100521,475 - 104121475
Inwestmenl properbies a 1La54 03, 362 16540034, 362
Furmilurs and equipment H YOILOTI Q2073
Intangilie masets = 30180 A0 181
Tata] Assets 103079 02 | 863 588416 | I
| sgbilities:
Mnrmpemicnd e pavablk 4147947 4,147 58T
Awcrued wapens and wther b lties 25057 i - I5.052.913
e 1o related parties i 162 1624911 183 162611
Tdad Labvifities 20 20, B0 18 12 a1 21,309 2010
Burplis ¢ {De )} TEHETH 13D 1 AT 4B M5 1,545 3], Hdd

Llperatiomnl Figk

Operatkenal rsk is the tisk of dmeer or maliceed kos arsang (o s vaniely of csuses aasoiniod with the prosesses,
techrishogy and mimstruciure supportmg the Fund's seivoanes eitber nlerrally ar eermally o the Fund's seroce
priveicler und (rom exlermsl fielors other than credil, bgudhty, courrency and merket nisks much & those arsmg from
the tegml iad reubaloay requiramenls.

The Fund’s chjectve is fo monage operatioral nsk so 45 to balance fimiting of finonoizl losses and damage to its
requitadiony with achisving e swestment objectn e ol generatiing et 1o orsthpklers
Carreacy sk

Crarency rigk is the rigk that the walue of & firaneial msrement will Pestete due tooa change v forcign exchasge
satcs Thie funds fusctional amd presentaion surieney s Sl Biyal with=ons tasactons with UAE Difiam whach
hns a sinblo cxchange rato o Sawdi Rival. The Fund = not consequantly cdpased to any curroncy risk,
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BONYAN REI'l FUND

(MANAGED BY SAUDI FRANSI CAPITAL COMPANY)
MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the yenr ended 31 Decamber 2009

11, IIVIDERD | IS TRIBUTIOMN

In secardance with the approved 1ems and conditions of the Fund, on 24 April 2009, the Fund’s board of direcioes
appraved o distnbute dividensds with regands to the penod ended 30 April D09 amonting to SAR 03675 per und
smewpad to SAR 39835 504 1o iis unit holders

Oy 2T Wowernber 2009, the Fund's beard ol diseetors apgroved 1o diseribite dividencs with regards 1o the parod from
AL My 200900 31 Octeber 2019 aitousting fo SAR 36T per wiel amedimbed wm SAR S5 R5E M08 e il ot bolders

I ummgg thee peeriend 20138, the Fund's boand of directars npgrosed Lo detnbue dvidends with regards 1o the periad encded
31 Oetaber 201 amousteng f0 SAR 02449 per it toealling SAR 39 905 869 to [t unit kolders.
I, FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRIMENTS

Leferpusatiog ef fdre vwillse anad fobe value bleraroty
The Fiasd uses thye {odlowing keerarchy for determiming and disclosing the far vabaee ol finarcssl irstnaments:

Leval 1 quatsd marlat prece: fmmnecinl sstamesnz with quoted imaciustsd praces for sdenticn] imatriiments 15 aelive
markets.

Level 2: quated prices in active madkets for smibr ossets and labilites ar other valuation techniques for which all
significard inprats e based on observable markes data

Lavel 3 valuidion techmgues for which iy signifiennt irput & rol sed on obsereahle mirkel du

The Fuasd’s finsncial ssseds consis of bank: balunces, rivestmens measured st FVTFL, and remtal income recevahle,
net and Daie from redsied pariss. The Fund’s fisancial eoilkies consis of dee 1o related panies, defemed rental
o, manngeovenl less payable oml, pzemied expenses ol sther habiliies

The following table shows fhe camang amosmt and fair vahe s of fineneial sssets and fmaneal habilites, cldmg ther
levels in the fuir valee hierarchy for (nenciel insmenis are mesared @ foir valioe, 11 docs o mebede far value
infrmaaom for firarcel agsets mmd Grorcia] Eabilites that ane nol messared af G value and then camying amourd s q
messnnakde apgroscm aten of fir value

r_'rl.r'rll;ﬂlg
il Liead 1 Leval 2 Level 3 Tatal
31 Decenrher 2010
Finarcinl aswers mansused ai
FVTEL ] I.BEE . . 2856
2K LRSE : . 2836

31 Deaeniber 2018
I nomeinl nssats msmaed ol
FYTPRL

The Fund belwoves that the fer value ol all other Grencia] asscts and labilities apgraxamateh: ogual ther carmyang value.

Lunryg the year emsled 31 December 2009, there were oo Inmslers belween Level 1 aml Level 2 e value messuremenls,
amel mo trmnslees mbs o ol of kevel 3 ofor valoe mensurements

The Furd wall momtor the fair vahue on g repular bass m line with the relevent l=mslshon
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BONYAN REI'T FUND
(MANAGED BY SALIDI FEANS] CAPITAL COMPANTY)

MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the yenr ended 31 Decamber 2009

L. FATR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTHRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Viefaaiion feclogues

When the fxir values of itema reconded m ibe satement of Tmanciol position eanmol be derived rom active markeds,
Thear fiar value = determmed usmg o vaney of valiation lechmgues thal melude the e of valuation models. The impuots
1o these models are taken from chscrmbls marksts whone possible, bt whcre thes = ol feasible, cstimation is moguunsd
in essthlshme fair values. The estimiaes include eomaedemtions of liquidity and mede] inpuis related toitems such aa
credit risk (both own and counterpartyl, comelation and volatility. Changes in assumpiions abot these factors could
afficet the reponed fair value of ibems in the fateaent of Grancial posiionand the Tevel where e items are disciossd
iy the Eznr value hierarchy. The miodels are tested For vabidity b calibrating o prices trom any obeervable current market
Transaclions i the sae item (aithou modification o repackaging) when srailsble. To asxs the signilicancs ol
purticular input fo the eniare meesarement, the furd performe senstnaty sealying o sress Lealmg wchniguen,

Bonyan REIT - Annual Report 2019



EBONYAN REIT FUND
MANAGELD BY SALUDI FRANST CAPITAL COMPANY)

MNOYTES TO THE FINANCIAL S TATEMENTE
Far the year ended 31 December 2009

i3, EFFECT OF NET ASSET VALUE IF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES ARE FAIR VALUED

In msardamis with Astiele 22 of the Rl Estate Invcatment Famd Roguhtions imsed by S84 i the Kingdom of Saadi
Adaban, the Fuid Mamager ovalmtes the Fuals ssets bl on o average of oo evalinbiomns prepaced by mdependent
vahsers Mg el ol it the tereis ard corditens of the Fand, the tel asset valhues declared are bwed on the maske valoe
oblwmed. However, i accondkinee with Inermatioms] Accvamling Sandinds 40 PLAS 407 the Fund opled o use the cos
methixd wherem meestment properbes ame cameed ol ool ks accumulated deprecistion end mporment, 1§y, @ thes
[inarciald stlements. fuocorchngly, the e valiee below s dsclosed Tor mlomesiion pameses and his nol been wcounted
for inithe Fund's books

The vahustion ef the bnvestment propemies {the “propertea” s camisd o by VahStot Comaltng Cempeny and Saadi
Adeet Valustion Company. These two valuersane licansed by the Saud ﬂ;mh-:-rn:, fowr Azoredited Vahoers (T AQEERM™)
The Fund hnager hin usad the averupe of the twa valuations for the purposes of diselosivg the far value of the propesties
The propecties were valued takang imo corstdesation of o nenber of Betoes, wchuding the area and ype of peoperies, and
vilimison teclnigues wsmp significant uebservable inpois, neboding the busd plhes cost method, resdunl viloe eseibod and
The decoonixd cush Oew melhed

Pk ia the far valustson of the invesments properties by the two vnlusmon :

Firat Second
Appreaizer Appratser Areragr
31 Decerither 210
I estment properties 1, 8BS, 433 300 1,557 K20 i) 1,041, 626.4650

1 SR5ASE I 1907 BL10 1w 1 0304650

3T Devenrber 2018 (Aarlibeel)
Imvestment propemiss 1,806,704 820 1R 73 155 608 [ B42040 280

|| 500, 0 B | BT 15 G0 [ BNl

Teelow 15 am amalyss of the propecties i vakie verss cosd.:

31 Deember
I December elnif
29 { Beslatedy
K ER

Estmmated i valve of investment. propertes 1941626080 ] 842 040 050
Bk vakic of 1y estmem propsstics (1,640,249, 38067 [ 1.654,034.362)
Liers- prossemi valus of purchiee eplam cn Bashid dall Abha {7 05509 (94,423,144
Tstimirled Gt vielue 1n svces ol back value 5 AT .565 Q9] TR
Leits 1y 15aue Jpisnbers 62 ER1, 100 162,281 1Kk
Wikl per umil relnling o excess of estmated Gur valoe
over haok wnlue of investment properties 1.2489 {5755
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BONY AN EEIT FLIND

(MANAGED BY SAUDI FRANS] CAPITAL COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
Far the vear endedl 31 December 200%

25 EFFECT OF NET ASSET YALUE IF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES ARE FAIR VALUED

(CONTINUED)

Ned el el

el nsied vinlloe s par he Nminczl slalements
Estiggated Faar value in excess of book value of

I ERTENEEE pRapertios

Ml et vitlue kosed on Tar valuion off

mvesiment properlies

St gssel palue per paid

et et value per unit g3 per the financinl stafemenis
Estimriedt fair value in gxcess of book value of

iesTe pRapetica

Bt asme volue per anit based on die valsatean ol

mwvesiment properies

4. RESTATEMENTS

3 Pecornber Ji Decetmber
2w Rl
SE SR

L A4S 8G9 340 1480340 73]
205 411 B8 4,201 TTH
1,652 TR A 95 1,574, 832 0k
HHUYTH oea7
12480 0.5THe
101467 9 EEEG

For e year endid 31 Dogenber 2019, the Funud MMineszer b re-slasslic] sortmn il balaoes: e e ander dillerent
[inanei] stnlernen fire slems (o compared (o 31 December 20090 Thes wasdone m order io achieve fiur presentision and

appropmale clissilicaiom G each Lvpe ol issel, Bishdily, and revenue and experse dem.

Fallowing is the reconcelution for snpoct of restabements on the live fems of te satement of Tnancial position as of 31
Drecember 2008, Tn addstion, none of the restitements Bad any impact an the met mesne [or the peried ther ended and

neither net asset valvg o3 ot 31 Decembsr 2015

ASEETS

Cadly and cask aqaivalents
Fental income rogeivable et
Prepavinent and cther fsseis
D from relaved parties
Trburgzible ssseis

Furniture and equament

Trw estmient properises

TOT AL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
e Lo releled parbios
[elemred rents] ircome

Aporead MManagemend fes
Aieroad evperaes nnd ather hnbilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

Mel assels ultnhulzhle Lo unstholders

A1 Deepiider 2R
rP:I"ﬂ.lﬁ:!IﬂII_I‘I
alfselasend) A4 mighadad)
SR Adfusiawmis B Sit

T2, 264 (R0 205, DA T2 ET R
SULOGE S 8 i, 368 G T3 4G
QE33,840 (ST 191 B 201049
100al 212 (39,737 F002LATS
. 530,181 530,181
. DOI0 073 QOXE0T
[ E63 562 S0 (B3R 35T)  1A54 034 362
L. 775,821,088 Eeg  §,77592T.250
D, 207 131 5 RS T I 0251
TAAT1 6T 11,585 T4 ORE 262
4147987 i 4147047
BTN O (5,800, TR 25052 cnd
295 18] 4957 TS G I3 ARTGRA
I A= 58231 (I Ch T (R |
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BONY AN REIT FLIMND

(MANAGED BY S5AUDI FRANSI CAPITAL COMPANY)
NOTES 10 THE FINAMNCIAL STATEMENTS

Far the year endal 31 December 2009

24, RESTATEMENTS (CONTINUEDR)

Fallowarng 1z the reconcilmtson for ipact of festatemants a0 the line ttemss of the statement of profit or ke and other
somprehensive mcoms for the pericd froes 35 July 20018 10 3] December 2008, In adchison, neme of ihe restalements bad
any impsact on e net income for the pericd then ended and neither net assei valae sa af 31 December 2008

For thae perioud enuded 31 Deoomber 2008

rP'rm'l?ﬂlt:Ey
lesrdoamil) iAs resbatad)
LR Suffustivenia SR SR

THCOME
Trgrcmne froun any<stmmens praperties, net A2.430. 300 - Shaan 326
Ok inecese 30510 . 330510
TOTAL INDOME 52,945 834 - 531960 36
EXPEMSIS
Whinmzemenl lees (3,950, 5603 - (3,950 464
Fravizion for douht (e dehis - (AR 1005 (N0, IO
T operating cxpermes (137,240 137, 25 -
Chher expenses kR b EERJES (ol 2710
T AL EXFENSHS {4,597 938) - (4,579 1K)
Incese fom operations durmgs the pesad 47,080 20 . o7 G B
Deprecmbiom expense on [urnaiure and exupmenl u (15} (0,50, 5]
Amortizmtym expense an intngibles . (55, 259) [95,2559)
Depreciation expense on irvestmend propertics (R NS R | 2007, 30 A0SR T5(1)
Tmpmirenent o ipvestmest properties 10 AR04EDN : CH 10380 450
MET LUSSFOR THE FERICL (B340, 138) - {5345, 135)

15 CIWVITFARATIVE FIGURES

Cluftmin previals year cospasative figires have been reprouped | rectasalied 10 sonlben o the pressrtation adopted m
these fimncinl sarements.

o, SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

There are ne signifcant sdjusting svents sibsaquent to the reportmg date. Howewer, with the catbreak of Coved-1%amd
ihe varions precautionany mesages adopted by the Croverngmers, the Fund bamager is of the view that the averall
wperulnomes of the fund have boen olfected Moreoves, thae v m mdicatzon of mippement of non-lrmrcsl wseels
Humver, the Furd Manager comod rehab by meseure the fmancml impact as ol the sdate ofthe opproval of thes e fnamaal
slal=ments
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BONY AR REIT FLIMND

(MANAGED BY S5AUDI FRANSI CAPITAL COMPANY)
NOTES 10 THE FINAMNCIAL STATEMENTS

For the vear endeal 31 December 2009

17, GEGMENT REFORTING
Comaptent with the Fund's intemal reportieg procesa, the Fued Manager revigws the husiness segments 10 respect of
the Funi's activibies. Business segments of the Fund gre spreod over the hModdle Eas region ve. Kingdom of Seudi
Arabia and [nited Arsb Emirates, However, Fund banager does ney perceive business sepments as maerinl Hence,
mok dbse b aepagately

I8 LAST VALUATION DAY
The last valastin day of the pesved was 31 December 2019 (20018 31 December 2015).

10, APPFROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These firnncink siatemernts were approved by the Fund Boerd om 26 March 2020 {comesponding to 02 Shoban [441H}
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